

CBEYOND, INC.

FORM 10-K (Annual Report)

Filed 03/07/12 for the Period Ending 12/31/11

Address 320 INTERSTATE NORTH PARKWAY SE

SUITE 500

ATLANTA, GA 30339

Telephone 678-424-2400

CIK 0001205727

Symbol CBEY

SIC Code 4813 - Telephone Communications, Except Radiotelephone

Industry Communications Services

Sector Services



UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT Χ OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE **ACT OF 1934**

> For the transition period from Commission file number 000-51588

BEYOND, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

320 Interstate North Parkway, Suite 500 Atlanta, Georgia

(Address of principal executive offices)

59-3636526

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

30339 (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (678) 424-2400

Securities registered pursuant to 12(b) of the Act: Common Stock, \$0.01 par value

(Title of Class)

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes "No x Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act. Yes No x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer "

Accelerated filer x

Non-accelerated filer

Smaller reporting company "

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.) Yes "No x

As of June 30, 2011, the aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was \$400,717,728 based on a closing price of \$13.21 on the Nasdaq Global Market on such date.

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant's classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.

Title of Class

Number of Shares Outstanding on March 1, 2012

Common Stock, \$0.01 par value

30,703,468

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The information required by Part III of this Report, to the extent not set forth herein, is incorporated by reference from the registrant's definitive proxy statement relating to the annual meeting of stockholders scheduled to be held on June 8, 2012. The definitive proxy statement shall be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates.

CBEYOND, INC. For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
	PART I	
ITEM 1.	Business	2
ITEM 1A.	Risk Factors	11
ITEM 1B.	Unresolved Staff Comments	21
ITEM 2.	Properties	21
ITEM 3.	Legal Proceedings	21
ITEM 4.	Mine Safety Disclosure	21
	PART II	
ITEM 5.	Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities	22
ITEM 6.	Selected Financial Data	24
ITEM 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	29
ITEM 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	48
ITEM 8.	Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	49
ITEM 9.	Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	80
ITEM 9A.	Controls and Procedures	80
ITEM 9B.	Other Information	80
	PART III	
ITEM 10.	Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance	81
ITEM 11.	Executive Compensation	81
ITEM 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters	81
ITEM 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence	81
ITEM 14.	Principal Accounting Fees and Services	81
	PART IV	
ITEM 15.	Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules	82
SIGNATURES		85

PART I

CAUTIONARY NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In this document, Cbeyond, Inc. and its subsidiaries are referred to as "we," "our," "us," "management," the "Company" or "Cbeyond."

This document contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements include, but are not limited to, statements identified by words such as "expectation," "guidance," "believe," "expect" "anticipate," "estimate," "intend," "plan," "target," "project," and similar expressions. Such statements are based upon the current beliefs and expectations of our management and are subject to significant risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ from those set forth in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause future results to differ include, but are not limited to, the following: the significant reduction in economic activity, which particularly affects our target market of small and mid-sized businesses; the risk that we may be unable to continue to experience revenue growth at historical or anticipated levels; the risk of unexpected increase in customer churn levels; changes in federal or state regulation or decisions by regulatory bodies that affect us; periods of economic downturn or unusual volatility in the capital markets or other negative macroeconomic conditions that could harm our business, including our access to capital markets and the impact on certain of our customers to meet their payment obligations; the timing of the initiation, progress or cancellation of significant contracts or arrangements; the mix and timing of services sold in a particular period; our ability to recruit and retain experienced management and personnel; rapid technological change and the timing and amount of startup costs incurred in connection with the introduction of new services or the entrance into new markets; our ability to maintain or attract sufficient customers in existing or new markets; our ability to respond to increasing competition; our ability to manage the growth of our operations; changes in estimates of taxable income or utilization of deferred tax assets which could significantly affect our effective tax rate; pending regulatory action relating to our compliance with customer proprietary network information; the risk that the anticipated benefits, growth prospects and synergies expected from our acquisitions may not be fully realized or may take longer to realize than expected; the possibility that economic benefits of future opportunities in an emerging industry may never materialize, including unexpected variations in market growth and demand for the acquired products and technologies; delays, disruptions, costs and challenges associated with integrating acquired companies into our existing business, including changing relationships with customers, employees or suppliers; unfamiliarity with the economic characteristics of new geographic markets; ongoing personnel and logistical challenges of managing a larger organization; our ability to retain and motivate key employees from the acquired companies; external events outside of our control, including extreme weather, natural disasters, pandemics or terrorist attacks that could adversely affect our target markets; our ability to implement and execute successfully our new strategic focus; our ability to expand fiber availability; the extent to which small and mid-sized businesses continue to spend on cloud, network and security services; our ability to recruit, maintain and grow a sales force focused exclusively on our technologydependent customers; our ability to integrate new products into our existing infrastructure; the effects of restructuring activities; the extent to which our customer mix becomes more technology-dependent; our ability to achieve future cost savings related to our capital expenditures and investment in Ethernet technology; and general economic and business conditions. You are advised to consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects in the reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, including this report in the sections titled "Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors" and "Part II, Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." Such disclosure covers certain risks, uncertainties and possibly inaccurate assumptions that could cause our actual results to differ materially from expected and historical results. We undertake no obligation to correct or update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Item 1. Business

OVERVIEW

Cbeyond provides managed information technology (or "IT") and communications services to businesses primarily consisting of between 5 and 249 employees in the United States. Our services include cloud applications such as Microsoft ® Exchange, data center infrastructure as a service (or "IaaS"), cloud private branch exchange (or "PBX") phone systems, Microsoft ® SQL Server ®, Metro Ethernet, Broadband Internet Access, Multi-Protocol Label Switching (or "MPLS"), Virtual Private Networking (or "VPN"), mobile voice and data, information security, local and long distance voice services, administration management and professional services to migrate and manage customer environments.

All of such services, other than cloud-based services purchased outside of an integrated package, are delivered over our secure all-Internet Protocol (or "IP") network via high capacity connections, which allows us to control quality of service much better than services delivered over the best-efforts public Internet. We utilize various types of high-speed connections where available and economically feasible, such as copper-based and Fiber Optic Metro Ethernet and Fiber Optic networks, allowing for rapid deployment of new products and services. Our network allows us to manage quality of service and achieve network reliability comparable to that of traditional communications networks.

Cbeyond provides a high-value customer service experience tailored and devoted solely to serving small and mid-sized enterprises. Our network management and monitoring systems scan more than 100,000 network elements making millions of measurements each day. Our systems can detect anomalies and facilitate corrective action, often prior to customer detection. We give customers multiple paths to interact with us, including on-site sales and support, telephone, chat, fax, e-mail and on-line portals. Our redundant call centers in Denver, CO and Atlanta, GA are staffed continuously 24 hours a day. Our data center in Louisville, KY supports our cloud-based services and is also staffed 24 hours a day.

Offerings

Our offerings range from a simple bundle of local and long distance voice communications services with broadband Internet access to a comprehensive offering of discreet IT, network, communications, mobile services, security and professional services.

Communications Offerings

For businesses that desire basic communications services, we offer an array of flexible packages dictated by customer needs. We provide these packages at a competitive fixed monthly fee. We believe these services, by virtue of our network architecture and service management systems, are delivered with the highest reliability in the industry.

Other services include voicemail, basic email, unified messaging, web hosting, online backup, fax-to-email, virus protection, mobile workforce management, and Virtual Receptionist.

Technology-Dependent Business Offerings

For needs transcending basic communications, we offer a catalog of technology solutions. These services fall into three categories:

- Data Center and Cloud
- Networking
- Security

Our cloud data center IaaS includes virtual and physical servers with Microsoft ® Hyper-VTM hypervisor management engine and console. Additional cloud-based applications include Microsoft ® SQL, Microsoft ® Exchange, Microsoft ® ASP.NetTM Web Hosting, cloud PBX, online back up and fax-to-email.

During the third quarter of 2011, we began offering a one-time professional service in which we migrate essential applications and data from customers' on-premise servers to our data center. We believe this Remote Migration Service will be a key differentiator and will positively influence the adoption and implementation of our cloud-based solutions.

Our networking catalog consists of broadband Internet access, e-commerce and site-to-site enterprise grade internetworking.

Internet access services range from 1.5 megabits per second (or "Mbps") through 100Mbps and are provided via high-performing Time Division Multiplexing and Metro Ethernet. These non-shared access networks with high performance peering are suitable for critical business applications such as video conferencing, websites and e-commerce.

For site-to-site enterprise networking, we offer Metro Ethernet and MPLS networking to any address in the United States. This managed service includes premise equipment and router for a competitive monthly price. It also features customer-configurable class of service so businesses can transport all voice and data over one unified network, a key driver for adoption of this service.

Because we combine network and data center offerings, businesses experience a higher level of performance, security, survivability and risk management. We are responsible for all aspects of their outsourced IT implementation. Often, this results in increased reliability, especially for remote users, and lower total cost of ownership.

Our expanding security portfolio includes virus protection, internet network border security services, firewalls and remote secure VPN services.

Operations

Cbeyond offers a differentiated value proposition to its customers through superior pre- and post-sale customer service. We believe three factors are keys to this superiority:

- Our focus on small and mid-sized businesses leads to process and procedural advantages not achievable by operators serving multiple
 market segments,
- Proprietary systems that facilitate rapid service creation, and
- A culture of service reinforced by a significant internal focus on customer satisfaction scores.

We continue to put emphasis on customer service as a key cultural differentiator to drive satisfaction and referrals. We define the overall customer experience across all customer touch points and the implementation of a cohesive program to ensure higher retention rates. This focus has also contributed to continued improvements in our automated care and support capabilities.

Sales and Marketing

In our local network markets, our primary marketing mechanism is a direct sales force that presents a simplified communications package sold at a fixed price. This is an acquisition-centric, high-activity model. The intention is to cover all target businesses multiple times per year. This approach enables us to intercept or create sales opportunities with little to no mass-marketing outreach. This strategy has proven successful in achieving penetration rates as high as one in five target businesses.

A more formal, consultative sales and marketing approach is used to reach the technology-dependent segment. We engage these prospects with a more knowledgeable sales and technical support channel using formal funnel management and specific sales team assignments. During 2011, we began an initiative to realign our resources by reducing staffing levels in our traditional communications-centric sales force while expanding new distribution channels focused on technology-dependent customers.

Indirect Sales

We supplement our direct sales force with partners who leverage pre-existing business relationships and act as sales agents. These agents include value-added resellers, local area network consultants and other IT and communications consultants.

Private Label Resellers

Private Label Resellers (or "PLRs") use their brand and resources to market, sell, invoice and provide support for their customers. We provide cloud infrastructure and services, on-line web portals for end-user and PLR account administration, technical support and overall program management. We invoice PLRs at a discount to our retail pricing for the services consumed by their end-user customers. PLRs include value-added resellers, managed services providers, systems integrators and software vendors.

Marketing

Our marketing resources focus on supporting the consultative sales force. The goal is to create a viable presence and establish brand credibility. This includes advertising, vertical campaigns, collateral, digital marketing, incentives, events, press relations, analyst engagement, promotions and events.

Customers

Prior to joining Cbeyond, the majority of our customers received basic communications services from the incumbent local exchange carriers (or "ILECs") and frequently had multiple other providers for other IT and communications services. Often they simply did not utilize the kinds of IT services available through our service packages. In most cases, these businesses did not receive the focus and personalized attention that larger enterprises enjoy and often lagged behind larger businesses in the adoption of productivity-enhancing and cost-effective IT and communications services.

Our sole focus on small and mid-sized businesses means no single customer or group of customers represents a significant percentage of our customer base or revenues. Our largest customer segments are professional services, which include physicians, legal offices, insurance services, consulting firms, accounting firms and real estate services. Each of these segments represents less than 10% of our customer base.

Markets

We first launched communication services through our Core Managed Services segment in Atlanta in April 2001, and have expanded to 14 metropolitan markets in total, including Dallas, Denver, Houston, Chicago, Los Angeles, San Diego, Detroit, the San Francisco Bay Area, Miami, Minneapolis, the Greater Washington D.C. Area, Seattle and Boston.

We can provide our cloud and MPLS networking products to any address in the United States and internationally. We provide cloud-based services to customers located in more than 60 countries. During 2011, less than 1% of our consolidated revenue came from customers based outside of the United States.

Infrastructure

We employ a single integrated network, which digitizes voice communications into IP packets and converge them with data services for transport across the network. Compared to traditional networks using legacy technologies, our network design requires significantly lower capital expenditures and operating costs.

The integration of our network with an automated front- and back-office system allows us to monitor network performance, quickly provision and offer an online self-service portal, thus reducing expenses while increasing satisfaction.

We deliver all of our services over secure IP networks allowing us to control service quality not achievable by services delivered over the "best-effort" public Internet. Our network allows us to manage quality of service and achieve reliability comparable to that of traditional communications networks. Our network operating system software monitors network quality and is capable of identifying potential problems.

Our all-IP network and automated support systems enable us to deliver services typically only available to large enterprises or otherwise too expensive or impractical for small businesses to obtain.

Network Evolution

Our largest single monthly expense to date is the cost of leasing T-1 access circuits from local exchange carriers to connect customers to our network. We are able to obtain cost-based pricing because we meet certain qualifying criteria established by the Federal Communications Commission (or "FCC") for use of these services. The FCC's Triennial Review Remand Order (or "TRRO") requires us to lease T-1 circuits under special access pricing when serving customers in certain geographical areas within the metropolitan markets we serve. See "Government Regulation." We also incur costs associated with developing and constructing processes and systems to take advantage of these wholesale circuits.

We augment our access networks with Fiber Optic and copper-based Metro Ethernet with the following three characteristics and advantages:

- Faster Speeds: Metro Ethernet allows speeds many times faster than T-1 access circuits going from 1.5Mbps up to 1,000Mbps with the same levels of quality.
- Cost: Metro Ethernet costs less per Mbps than T-1 access circuits.
- Supplier Diversity: We source these services from multiple suppliers allowing for cost arbitrage.

We currently serve over 20% of our customers with Metro Ethernet and are increasing our capabilities to serve approximately 50% of our customers with Metro Ethernet by 2014. As of December 31, 2011, we have incurred \$25.8 million in cumulative capital expenditures associated with the copper-based Metro Ethernet conversion, of which \$20.1 million was incurred during 2011. As of December 31, 2011 we have substantially completed the copper-based Metro Ethernet customer conversion project and have shifted focus to our Fiber Optic initiative. We have begun executing agreements to provide Fiber Optic access and plan to have active agreements in place in several markets by December 2013. We expect that upfront costs associated with Metro Ethernet conversions will be offset by significant access cost savings and competitive advantages over time.

Competition

We broadly compete with companies that could provide both voice and enhanced services to small and mid-sized businesses in our markets.

As a provider of voice services, our primary competitors are the ILECs: CenturyLink (formerly Qwest) in Denver, Minneapolis, and Seattle; AT&T in Atlanta, Dallas, Detroit, Houston, Chicago, Los Angeles, San Diego,

Miami and the San Francisco Bay Area; and Verizon in the Greater Washington D.C. Area and Boston. In addition, we compete with other competitive local exchange carriers (or "CLECs") in each of our markets. These competitive carriers include XO Communications, Windstream, Integra Telecom, TelePacific Communications and EarthLink, among many others. Certain of these competitive carriers have adopted VoIP technology similar to that employed by us, and we expect others to do so in the future. Based on information provided by our customers at the time of activation, approximately 59% of our customers used an ILEC for local telephone service prior to signing with us.

In addition, there are other providers using VoIP technology, such as Vonage, Skype (a division of Microsoft), deltathree, and 8x8, which offer service using the public Internet to access their customers. We do not currently view these companies as our direct competitors because they primarily serve the consumer market and businesses with fewer than four lines.

Certain cable television companies, such as Cox, Comcast, Time Warner Cable and Cablevision, have begun offering VoIP services to both consumers and business customers, primarily to compete better against ILECs.

We expect other companies may be formed in the future to take advantage of a VoIP-based business model. Existing companies may also expand their focus in the future to target small and mid-sized business customers. In addition, certain utility companies have begun experimenting with delivering voice and high-speed data services over power lines.

In connection with our BeyondMobile offering, we compete with national wireless phone companies, such as AT&T, Sprint, T-Mobile USA and Verizon Wireless, as well as other regional wireless providers.

In connection with our cloud-based service offerings, we compete with several cloud server and cloud PBX service providers. With respect to cloud server and other hosting services, we compete with companies such as Rackspace, Hosting.com, Microsoft, GoDaddy.com, and Amazon Web Services. In the cloud PBX space we compete with hosted PBX providers such as 8x8, Telesphere, Bandwidth.com, Broadvox, SimpleSignal, and Vocalocity.

Government Regulation

As a company that sells telecommunications services as part of a bundle of managed software, our business is, in part, subject to the statutory framework established by federal legislation in the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (or "Telecom Act"), various state statues and varying degrees of federal, state and local regulation. In contrast to certain other IP-based carriers, we have elected to operate as a common carrier, rather than representing that we should face diminished regulation based on our use of IP technology. As a common carrier, we are subject to the jurisdiction of both federal and state regulatory agencies that have the authority to review our prices, terms and conditions of service. These regulatory agencies exercise minimal control over our prices and services, but do impose various obligations such as reporting, payment of fees and compliance with consumer protection and public safety requirements. Further, we are also subject to requirements placed on "interconnected VoIP providers" in addition to the requirements we are subject to as a common carrier.

We operate as a facilities-based carrier and have received all necessary state and federal authorizations to do so. Unlike resale carriers, we do not rely upon access to the switching facilities of ILECs such as AT&T or Verizon. As a facilities-based carrier, we have undertaken a variety of regulatory obligations, including providing access to emergency 911 systems, permitting law enforcement officials access to our network upon proper authorization, contributing to the cost of the FCC's (and, where applicable, state) universal service programs and making our services accessible to persons with disabilities.

By operating as a common carrier, we also benefit from certain legal rights established by federal legislation, especially the Telecom Act, which gives us and other common carrier competitive entrants the right to interconnect to the ILECs' networks and to access elements of their networks on an unbundled basis. These

rights are not available to providers who do not operate as common carriers. We have used these rights to gain interconnections with ILECs in each metropolitan market where we provide service and to purchase selected unbundled network elements (or "UNEs") at prices based on incremental cost, that provide us with dependable, high-quality digital access to our customers' premises which we use to provide them with a bundle of management software services.

The United States Congress, (or "Congress"), the FCC, and state regulators are considering a variety of issues that may result in changes in the statutory and regulatory environment in which we operate our business. While federal legislation that could affect our business operations or costs is always a possibility, we believe it is unlikely that any such negative legislation will be passed by Congress in 2012. We also believe the FCC is unlikely to adopt rules that extinguish our basic right or ability to compete in the telecommunications markets and that any rule changes that affect us will likely be accompanied by transition periods sufficient to allow us to adjust our business practices accordingly. Some of the changes under consideration by Congress, the FCC, and state regulators could affect our competitors differently than they affect us.

Regulatory Framework

Although we have begun providing service to our customers using Ethernet technology over copper loops without heavy reliance on ILEC-provided electronics and, to a lesser extent, Fiber Optic connections that are not at all dependent on UNEs, our business continues to rely heavily on the use of T-1 UNE loops and enhanced extended links that include T-1 loop components for access to customer premises. Our existing strategy is based on FCC rules that require ILECs to provide us UNEs at wholesale prices based on incremental costs in all wire centers except those with the densest concentration of loops serving business customers. This exception affects the price we pay to obtain access to T-1 loops in some of the central business districts we serve. These rules that currently govern our access to both T-1 and copper loop UNEs may change due to future FCC decisions or acts of Congress, and we are unable to predict how such future developments may affect our business. We are, however, taking steps to minimize our reliance on ILEC facilities both to limit our exposure should current regulations change and to provide higher bandwidth services to our customers.

The Telecom Act

The Telecom Act, which substantially revised the Communications Act of 1934, established the regulatory preconditions to allow companies like us to compete for the provision of local communications services. We have developed our business, including our decision to operate as a common carrier, and designed and constructed our networks to take advantage of the features of the Telecom Act that require cooperation from the ILECs. There have been numerous attempts to revise or eliminate the basic framework for competition in the local exchange services market through a combination of federal legislation, new FCC rules and challenges to existing and proposed regulations by the ILECs. We anticipate that Congress will consider a range of proposals to modify the Telecom Act over the next few years, including some proposals that could restrict or eliminate our access to elements of the ILECs' networks. However, we consider it unlikely that Congress would reverse the fundamental policy of encouraging competition in communications markets.

Congress may also consider legislation that would address the impact of the Internet on the Telecom Act. Such legislation could seek to clarify the regulations applicable to VoIP and Internet access service providers. We believe that such legislation is unlikely to result in the imposition of new regulatory obligations on us, although it is possible that it will eliminate certain regulatory obligations that apply to us because of our status as a common carrier.

Federal Regulation

The FCC regulates interstate and international communications services in the United States, including access to local communications networks for the origination and termination of these services. We provide

interstate and international services on a common carrier basis. The FCC has authorized the provision of domestic interstate communications services by rule but requires all common carriers to obtain an authorization to construct and operate international communications facilities and to provide or resell communications services between the United States and international points. We have secured authority from the FCC for the installation, acquisition and operation of our wireline network facilities to provide facilities-based international services.

Unlike ILECs, our retail services are not currently subject to price cap or rate of return regulation. We are therefore free to set our own prices for end-user services subject only to the general federal guidelines that our charges for interstate and international services be just, reasonable and non-discriminatory. We have filed tariffs with the FCC containing interstate rates we charge to long distance carriers for access to our network, also called interstate access charges. The rates we can charge for interstate access, unlike our end user services, are limited by FCC rules. We are also required to file periodic reports, to pay regulatory fees based on our interstate revenues and to comply with FCC regulations concerning the content and format of our bills, the process for changing a customer's subscribed carrier and other consumer protection matters. The FCC has the authority to impose monetary forfeitures and to condition or revoke a carrier's operating authority for violations of these requirements. Our operating costs are increased by the need to assure compliance with these regulatory obligations.

As a key part of its regulatory mandate, and in response to petitions filed by ILECs and others, the FCC constantly reviews the regulations it administers. These proceedings could eventually have some impact on our ability to buy UNEs in one or more markets we serve or wish to serve, the prices we pay for UNEs, the prices we pay for special access facilities, inter-carrier compensation rates, interconnection rules, Universal Service Fund (or "USF") rates and other rules and regulations that impact our business. We monitor these proceedings closely and are active participants in those that could have the most impact on us, whether positive or negative. We cannot predict the outcome of these proceedings or new proceedings that may be initiated.

The FCC recently made significant changes to the federal USF and inter-carrier compensation regimes and is considering making additional reforms. These changes may affect the fees we are required to pay to the USF, but since we and our competitors generally pass these fees through to customers, we expect any changes to have minimal competitive effect. Similarly, although the FCC recently ordered significant reductions in the default rates for terminating interstate and intrastate telecommunications traffic, we do not expect these changes in inter-carrier compensation rules to have a material effect on us because we derive the vast majority of our revenues directly from our customers rather than from other carriers. Reciprocal compensation for termination of local calls is not a significant source of revenue, and we derive relatively little revenue from access charges for origination and termination of long-distance calls over our network. Nevertheless, the inter-carrier compensation regime is in a state of transition to implement the long term reforms adopted by the FCC, and it is impossible to foresee all potential outcomes, whether temporary or permanent, either of the transition or ultimate state of the inter-carrier compensation system. For example, it is possible, and we cannot predict, whether local telephone companies that rely more heavily on inter-carrier compensation revenues may seek to recoup lost access revenue by raising transit service rates or other rates associated with the switching and transport of telecommunications traffic.

We expect that nationwide access to T-1 and voice-grade copper loops serving current and new customer locations will continue to be available to us regardless of future changes in the FCC rules, although not necessarily at current prices. All ILECs are required, independent of the UNE rules, to offer us some form of T-1 loop and transport services as well as copper loops without associated electronics. It is possible that the FCC will establish rates for some of these services at levels that are comparable to current UNE rates, or that we may be able to negotiate reasonable prices for these services through commercial negotiations with ILECs. However, we cannot provide assurance that either of these possibilities will occur. If all other options were unavailable, we would be required to pay special access rates for these services. These rates are substantially higher than the rates we pay for UNEs.

State Regulation

State agencies exercise jurisdiction over intrastate telecommunications services, including local telephone service and in-state toll calls. To date, we are authorized to provide intrastate local telephone, long distance telephone and operator services in California, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Texas, Virginia, Washington, and the District of Columbia, as well as in other states where we are not yet operational. As a condition to providing intrastate telecommunications services, we are required, among other things, to:

- file and maintain intrastate tariffs or price lists describing the rates, terms and conditions of our services;
- · comply with state regulatory reporting, tax and fee obligations, including contributions to intrastate universal service funds; and
- comply with, and to submit to, state regulatory jurisdiction over consumer protection policies (including regulations governing
 customer privacy, changing of service providers and content of customer bills), complaints, transfers of control and certain financing
 transactions.

Generally, state regulatory authorities can condition, modify, cancel, terminate or revoke certificates of authority to operate in a state for failure to comply with state laws or the rules, regulations and policies of the state regulatory authority. Fines and other penalties may also be imposed for such violations. As we expand our operations, we identify and evaluate the requirements specific to each individual state to ensure compliance with the rules and regulations of that state.

In addition, states are required under the Telecom Act to approve agreements for the interconnection of telecommunications carriers' facilities with those of the ILEC, to arbitrate disputes arising in negotiations for interconnection and to interpret and enforce interconnection agreements. In exercising this authority, the states may ultimately determine the rates, terms and conditions under which we can obtain access to the loop and transport UNEs that are required to be available under the FCC rules. The states may re-examine these rates, terms and conditions from time to time.

State governments and their regulatory authorities may also assert jurisdiction over the provision of intrastate IP communications services where they believe that their authority is broad enough to cover regulation of IP-based services. Various state regulatory authorities have initiated proceedings to examine the regulatory status of IP-based services, and some have chosen to regulate such services. Unlike some other IP-based providers, we already operate as a regulated carrier subject to state regulation, rules and fees and, therefore, we do not expect that our business will be materially affected by these proceedings. The FCC's ongoing proceedings on VoIP are expected to address, among other issues, the appropriate role of state governments in the regulation of these services.

Local Regulation

In certain locations, we are required to obtain local franchises, licenses or other operating rights and street opening and construction permits to install, expand and operate our telecommunications facilities along the public rights-of-way. In some of the areas where we provide services, we pay license or franchise fees based on a percentage of gross revenues. Cities that do not currently impose fees might seek to impose them in the future, and after the expiration of existing franchises, fees could increase. Under the Telecom Act, state and local governments retain the right to manage the public rights-of-way and to require fair and reasonable compensation from telecommunications providers, on a competitively neutral and non-discriminatory basis, to recover the costs associated with government's management of the public rights-of-way. These activities must be consistent with the Telecom Act and may not have the effect of prohibiting us from providing telecommunications services in any particular local jurisdiction. In certain circumstances, we may be subject to local fees associated with construction and operation of telecommunications facilities along the public rights-of-way. To the extent these fees are required, we comply with applicable requirements to collect and remit the fees.

History

We incorporated in March 2000 as Egility Communications, Inc. and changed our name in April 2000 to Cbeyond Communications, Inc. In November 2002, we recapitalized by merging the limited liability company that served as our holding company into Cbeyond Communications, Inc., the surviving entity in the merger. In July 2006, we changed our name from Cbeyond Communications, Inc. to Cbeyond, Inc. now serves as a holding company and directly owns all of the equity interests of our operating company, Cbeyond Communications, LLC. In October 2010, Cbeyond Communications, LLC acquired 100% of the common stock of Aretta Communications, Inc. and in December 2011, we merged Aretta Communications, Inc. into Cbeyond Communications, LLC, the surviving entity in the merger.

Intellectual Property

We currently do not own any patent registrations, applications, or licenses, but have applications pending for two patents. We maintain and protect trade secrets, know-how and other proprietary information regarding many of our business processes and related systems. We also hold several federal trademark registrations, including:

- Cbeyond ®;
- BeyondVoice ®;
- BeyondOffice ®:
- BeyondMobile ®;
- The last communications company a small business will ever need ®; and
- Cheyond Logo.

Employees

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had 1,928 and 1,944 employees, respectively. None of our employees are represented by labor unions. We believe employee relations are generally good.

Where You Can Find More Information

Our website address is www.cbeyond.net. The information contained on, or that may be accessed through, our website is not part of this annual report. You may obtain free electronic copies of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports at our investor relations website, ir.cbeyond.net/index.cfm, under the heading "SEC Filings" or on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. We will also furnish a paper copy of such filings free of charge upon request. Investors can also read and copy any materials filed by us with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room, which is located at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. Information about the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. These reports are available on our investor relations website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file them with the SEC. You can also find our Code of Ethics on our website under the heading "Corporate Governance" or by requesting a copy from us.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risks Related to Our Business

Our growth and financial health are subject to a number of economic risks.

As widely reported, the financial markets in the United States have experienced significant disruption in recent years, including, among other things, extreme volatility in security prices, severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, rating downgrades of certain investments and declining valuations of others. If the capital and credit markets experience further volatility and limited availability of funds remains limited, our ability to access the capital and credit markets may be limited by these conditions or other factors at a time when we would like, or need, to do so. This could have an impact on our ability to react to changing economic and business conditions. While currently these conditions have not impaired our ability to access credit markets and finance our operations, there can be no assurance that there will not be a further deterioration in financial markets and confidence in major economies.

We attempt to monitor the financial health of significant vendors because economic conditions may also adversely affect the ability of third-party vendors important to our operations to continue as going concerns. If such vendors were to fail, we may not be able to replace them without disruptions to, or deterioration of, our service and we may incur higher costs associated with the new vendors. Transitioning to new vendors may also result in the loss of the value of assets associated with our integration of third-party services into our network or service offering.

The depth and duration of economic downturns on the small and mid-sized business sector may also reduce the size and viability of our target market of small and mid-sized businesses, particularly in geographic areas where the economic impacts are more severe. We are unable to predict the timing, likely duration or severity of economic downturns on the small business sector, which may in turn limit the formation of small business customers.

The success of our growth and expansion plans depend on a number of factors that are beyond our control.

We have thus far grown our business by increasing the number of customers in existing markets, entering new geographical markets, and selling additional services to existing customers. We do not plan to open additional geographic markets in the near term and we expect future revenue growth will come by selling more complex and profitable services, including cloud-based services, to new and existing customers over a mix of access models including UNE T-1s, Ethernet services provided over UNE copper loops, fiber services provided via long-term leases with various fiber providers, and other fiber connections from various wholesale providers. There is no guarantee we will be able to maintain our growth or that we will choose to target the same pace of market growth in the future. Our success in achieving continued growth depends upon several factors including:

- the availability and retention of qualified and effective personnel with the expertise required to sell and operate effectively or successfully;
- the overall economic health of existing markets or small businesses in general;
- the number and effectiveness of competitors;
- the pricing structure under which we will be able to obtain circuits and purchase other services required to serve our customers;
- the availability to us of technologies needed to remain competitive;
- our ability to establish relationships and work effectively with the local telephone companies for the provision of access lines to customers; and
- Federal and state regulatory conditions, including rules that burden our business and therefore increase our costs, and regulatory requirements imposed on incumbent providers from which we derive significant benefits.

Acquisitions and joint ventures may have an adverse effect on our business.

We may continue making acquisitions or entering into joint ventures as part of our long-term business strategy. These transactions involve significant challenges and risks including that the transaction does not advance our business strategy; that we do not realize a satisfactory return on our investment; or that we experience difficulty in the integration of new employees, business systems, and technology; or diversion of management's attention from our other businesses. These events could harm our operating results or financial condition.

We may not be able to continue to grow our customer base.

Future growth in our existing markets may be more difficult than our growth has been to date due to increased or more effective competition in the future; difficulties in scaling our business systems and processes; or difficulties in maintaining sufficient numbers of qualified market management personnel, sales personnel and qualified integrated access device installation service providers to obtain and support additional customers.

The fixed pricing structure for our integrated packages makes us vulnerable to price increases by our suppliers for network equipment and access fees for circuits that we lease to gain access to our customers.

We offer a majority of our customers an integrated package at a fixed price for one, two or three years. If we experience an increase in our costs due to price increases from our suppliers, vendors or third-party carriers, new or changed regulation, or increases in access fees, installation fees, interconnection fees payable to local telephone companies or other fees, we may not be able to pass these increases on to our customers immediately, and this could materially harm our results of operations.

We face intense competition from other service providers that have significantly greater resources than we do. Several of these competitors are better positioned to engage in competitive pricing, which may impede our ability to implement our business model of attracting customers away from such providers.

The market we compete in is highly competitive. We compete, and expect to continue to compete, with many types of service providers, including traditional local telephone companies and cable companies. We also face competition from mobile service providers. In the future, we may also face increased competition from new VoIP-based service providers or other managed service providers with similar business models to our own. Our current or future competitors may provide services comparable or superior to those provided by us, or at lower prices, or adapt more quickly to evolving industry trends or changing market requirements.

A substantial majority of our target customers are existing small and mid-sized businesses that are already purchasing services from one or more of these providers. The success of our operations is in part dependent on our ability to persuade these small businesses to leave their current providers. Many of these providers have competitive advantages over us, including substantially greater financial, personnel and other resources, better access to capital, brand name recognition and long-standing relationships with customers. These resources may place us at a competitive disadvantage. Because of their greater financial resources, some of our competitors can also better afford to reduce prices for their services and engage in aggressive promotional activities. Such tactics could have a negative impact on our business. For example, some of our competitors have adopted pricing plans that are similar to (and in some cases lower than) the rates that we charge for similar services. In addition, other providers are offering unlimited or nearly unlimited use of some of their services for an attractive monthly rate. Any of the foregoing factors could require us to cause us to lose customers or further reduce our prices to remain competitive, resulting in continued decreases in average monthly revenue per customer location.

Improvements in quality of service of VoIP technology provided over the public Internet could increase competition.

We believe we generally do not compete with VoIP providers who use the public Internet to transmit communications traffic, as these providers generally do not provide the level and quality of service typically demanded by the business customers we serve. However, future advances in VoIP technology may enable these providers to offer an improved level and quality of service over the public Internet to business customers and with lower costs than using a private network. This development could result in increased price competition and may affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Continued industry consolidation could further strengthen our competitors, and we could lose customers or face adverse changes in regulation.

In the past several years, the communication industry has undergone a significant amount of consolidation. For example: Verizon merged with MCI; SBC merged with AT&T; AT&T and BellSouth merged; Comcast acquired a CLEC based in the Midwest and a nationwide wholesale provider of hosted VoIP services; Windstream acquired Nuvox, a privately held CLEC and competitor; and CenturyLink acquired Qwest. The increased size and market power of these companies may have adverse consequences for us, and other large mergers may create larger and more efficient competitors. These competitors could focus their large resources on regaining share in the small and mid-sized business sector, and we could lose customers or not grow as rapidly. Furthermore, these companies could use their greater resources to lobby effectively for changes in federal or state regulation that could have an adverse effect on our cost structure or our right to use access circuits that they are currently required to make available to us. These changes could have a harmful effect on our future financial results.

We are susceptible to business and political risks from our use of international third-party resources that could result in delays in the development or maintenance of operational support systems and business processes.

A portion of our IT development is performed by third-parties with offshore resources. There are inherent risks in engaging offshore resources including difficulties in complying with a variety of foreign laws, unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, fluctuations in currency exchange rates, difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, changes in political or economic conditions and potentially adverse tax consequences. To the extent that we do not manage our international third-party vendors successfully, our business could be adversely affected.

Our operational support systems and business processes may not be adequate to effectively manage our growth.

Our continued success depends on the scalability of our systems and processes. As of December 31, 2011, none of our individual market operations has supported levels of customers substantially in excess of 11,000, and our centralized systems and processes have not supported more than approximately 65,000 customer locations. We cannot be certain that our systems and processes are adequate to support ongoing growth in customers. In addition, our growing managed services profile, including our mobile services, cloud services and associated new applications, may create operating inefficiencies and result in service problems if we are unsuccessful in fully integrating such newer services into our existing operations. Failure to manage our future growth effectively could harm our quality of service and customer relationships, which could increase our customer churn, result in higher operating costs, write-offs or other accounting charges and otherwise materially harm our financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on local telephone companies for the installation and maintenance of our customers' T-1 or certain other access lines and other network elements and facilities.

A significant majority of our customers' T-1 or other access lines are installed and maintained by local telephone companies in each of our markets. If the local telephone company does not perform the installation properly or in a timely manner, our customers could experience disruption in service and delays in obtaining our services. Since inception, we have experienced routine delays in the installation of T-1 lines by the local telephone companies to our customers in each of our markets, although these delays have not yet resulted in any material impact to our ability to compete and add customers in our markets. Any delays or work stoppage action by employees of local telephone companies on which we rely to provide services to us could result in substantial delays in activating new customers' lines and could materially harm our operations. Although local telephone companies may be required to pay fines and penalties to us for failures to provide us with these installation and maintenance services according to prescribed time intervals, the negative impact on our business of such failures could substantially exceed the amount of any such cash payments. Furthermore, we are also dependent on traditional local telephone companies for access to their collocation facilities, and we utilize certain of their network elements. These companies are required to provide access to UNEs and collocations under federal law, but it is possible that they could refuse to comply with their obligations or engage in delay tactics that could negatively affect our ability to compete. In addition, failure of these elements or damage to a local telephone company's collocation facility could cause disruptions in our service.

We depend on third-party providers who install our integrated access devices at customer locations. We must maintain relationships with efficient installation service providers in our current cities and identify similar providers as we enter new markets in order to maintain quality in our operations.

The installation of integrated access devices at customer locations is an essential step that enables our customers to obtain our service. We outsource the installation of integrated access devices to a number of different installation vendors in each market. We must ensure that these vendors adhere to the timelines and quality that we require to provide our customers with a positive installation experience. In addition, we must obtain these installation services at reasonable prices. If we are unable to continue maintaining a sufficient number of installation vendors in our markets who provide high quality service at reasonable prices to us, we may have to use our own employees to perform installations of integrated access devices. We may not be able to manage such installations effectively using our own employees with the quality we desire and at reasonable costs.

Some of our services are dependent on facilities and systems maintained by or equipment manufactured by third parties over which we have no control, the failure of which could cause interruptions or discontinuation of some of our services, damage our reputation, cause us to lose customers or limit our growth.

We provide some of our existing services, such as secure desktop, by reselling to our customers services provided by third parties. We also offer mobile options integrated with our existing services by reselling mobile services provided by an established national third-party mobile carrier and reselling mobile equipment manufactured by third parties. We do not have control over the networks and other systems maintained by these third parties or their equipment manufacturing processes, facilities or supply chains. If our third-party providers fail to maintain their facilities properly or fail to respond quickly to network or other problems, our customers may experience interruptions in the service they obtain from us or we may not be able to supply the needed mobile equipment. Any service interruptions experienced by our customers could negatively impact our reputation, cause us to lose customers and limit our ability to attract new customers.

Some of the services we provide are regulated by the FCC, state public service commissions and local regulating governmental bodies. Changes in regulation could increase our costs of providing service or require us to change our services

We operate in a highly regulated industry and are subject to regulation by telecommunications authorities at the federal, state and local levels. Changes in regulatory policy could increase the fees we must pay to third parties, make certain required inputs for our network less readily available to us or subject us to requirements that could increase our operating costs.

The T-1 and voice-grade copper loop connections we provide to our customers are leased primarily from our competitors, the local telephone companies. The rules of the FCC, adopted under the Telecom Act, generally entitle us to lease these connections at wholesale prices based on incremental costs. It is possible, though we believe unlikely, that Congress will pass legislation in the future that will diminish or eliminate our right to lease such connections at regulated rates.

Our rights of access to the facilities of local telephone companies may also change as a result of future regulatory decisions, including forbearance petitions by ILECs that currently provide us with access to collocation and UNEs, as well as court decisions. To date, no forbearance petitions have been granted that have had any impact on our operations and none are pending. This could change, however, and there is the possibility that future forbearance grants or other regulatory rulings could limit our various rights under the Telecom Act.

Although we expect that we will continue to be able to obtain T-1 and other copper loop connections for our customers, we may not be able to do so at current prices. State regulatory commissions periodically review and establish pricing for the majority of the T-1 and other copper loop connections we use. State commission decisions are subject to appeal. If our right to obtain these connections at regulated prices based on incremental costs is further impaired, we will need to either negotiate new commercial arrangements with the local telephone companies to obtain the connections, perhaps at unfavorable rates and conditions, or obtain other means of providing connections to our customers, which may be expensive and require a long timeframe to implement. These actions may cause us to exit affected markets and decrease our customer base and revenues.

The FCC is also considering changing its rules for calculating incremental cost-based rates, which could result in either increases or decreases in our cost to lease these facilities. Significant increases in wholesale prices, especially for the loop element we use most extensively, could materially harm our business.

Under the FCC's rules, we are required to contribute a percentage of revenue generated from interstate and international telecommunications services (and VoIP services) to the federal USF. Current FCC rules permit us to pass this contribution amount on to our customers. The FCC has adopted a number of reforms to its USF mechanisms and currently is considering others. It is possible that the reforms adopted could increase our overall contribution obligations—for example, by expanding the scope of the regulatory regime to cover broadband Internet access services and/or limiting our ability to pass these costs through to our customers. To the extent the FCC adopts new contribution requirements expand the base of services subject to contribution requirements or otherwise imposes additional contribution obligations, such requirements and obligations may increase the costs we incur to comply with such regulations.

We also must comply with the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act of 1994 (or "CALEA") which requires communications carriers to ensure that their equipment, facilities and services can accommodate certain technical capabilities in executing authorized wiretapping and other electronic surveillance. We believe that we have deployed a CALEA-compliant solution throughout our network. However, we could be subject to an enforcement action by the FCC or law enforcement agencies for any delays related to meeting, or if we fail to comply with, any obligations under CALEA, or similarly mandated law enforcement-related obligations. Such enforcement actions could subject us to fines, cease and desist orders, or other penalties, all of which could adversely affect our business. Further, to the extent the FCC adopts additional capability requirements applicable to voice and data service providers, its decision may increase the costs we incur to comply with such regulations.

We are required to bill taxes, fees, and other amounts to our customers on behalf of government entities. Determining the services on which such amounts should be assessed and how to calculate the proper amounts can be complex and may involve judgment that an assessing entity may disagree with, exposing us to the possibility of material liabilities for amounts we did not bill to our customers, including interest and penalties.

We are required to bill taxes, fees and other amounts (collectively referred to as "taxes") on behalf of government entities on some of the services we provide to our customers. These entities include governments and governmental authorities at the county, city, state and federal level (or "taxing authorities"). Each taxing authority may have one or more taxes with unique rules as to which services are subject to each tax and how those services should be taxed. While some types of taxes may be similar among taxing authorities, the rules and applicable rates are often unique and change from time to time. Determining which taxing authorities have jurisdiction for a customer, which taxes are applicable, and how the specific rules should be applied often involves exercising judgment and making estimations. The nature of this process creates a risk of non-compliance, such as subjecting a customer to the wrong taxing authorities. Other risks that represent higher exposure to us include interpreting rules in a manner that may differ from the taxing authority, resulting in one or more of the following outcomes: we may not charge for a tax that we may be liable for, we may charge for a tax at a rate that is lower than what we may be liable for, or we may apply the correct rate using a methodology that differs from the applicable taxing authority's methodology. Because we sell many of our services on a bundled basis and assess different taxes on the individual components included within the bundle, there is also a risk that a taxing authority could disagree with the taxable value of a component.

Taxing authorities can perform audits for any period or periods still open for review under the applicable statute. These statutes typically provide that periods remain open for three to four years. If we were found to be improperly assessing taxes and were assessed for multiple years of under-billing our customers we could be subject to significant assessments of past taxes, fines and interest, which could materially harm our financial condition.

Adverse decisions or regulations of these taxing authorities could negatively impact our operations and costs of doing business. We are unable to predict the scope, pace or financial impact of regulations and other policy changes that could be adopted by the various governmental entities that oversee portions of our business.

The FCC is reexamining its policies towards VoIP and telecommunications in general. New or existing regulation could subject us to additional fees or increase the competition we face.

We currently operate as a regulated common carrier, which subjects us to a number of regulatory obligations. The FCC adopted rules applicable to "interconnected VoIP providers," but it has not determined whether to classify interconnected VoIP providers as common carriers. The rules applicable to interconnected VoIP providers require them to provide access to emergency 911 services for all customers that are comparable to the 911 services provided by traditional telephone networks, to implement certain capabilities for the monitoring of communications by law enforcement agencies pursuant to a subpoena or court order and to contribute to the federal universal service fund, among other requirements. As a common carrier, we currently comply with the 911 requirements, comply with the law enforcement assistance requirements applicable to traditional telecommunications carriers and contribute to the federal USF, and we also comply with the additional duties imposed on interconnected VoIP providers. The FCC continues to examine its policies towards services provided over IP networks, such as our VoIP technology and broadband Internet access services, and the results of these proceedings could impose additional obligations, fees or limitations on us.

Regulatory decisions may also affect the level of competition we face. Reduced regulation of retail services offered by local telephone companies could increase the competitive advantages those companies enjoy, cause us to lower our prices in order to remain competitive or otherwise make it more difficult for us to attract and retain customers.

Our customer churn rate may increase.

Customer churn occurs when a customer discontinues service with us, whether voluntary or involuntary, such as a customer going out of business or switching to a competitor. Changes in the economy, increased competition from other providers, or issues with the quality of service we deliver can impact our customer churn rate. We cannot predict future pricing by our competitors, but we anticipate that price competition will continue. Lower prices offered by our competitors could contribute to an increase in customer churn. Higher customer churn rates could adversely impact our revenue growth. A sustained and significant growth in the churn rate could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We obtain the majority of our network equipment and software from a limited number of third-party suppliers. Our success depends upon the quality, availability and price of these suppliers' network equipment and software.

We obtain the majority of our network equipment and software from a limited number of third-party suppliers. In addition, we rely on these suppliers for technical support and assistance. Although we believe that we maintain good relationships with these suppliers, if any of them were to terminate our relationship or were to cease making the equipment and software we use, our ability to efficiently maintain, upgrade or expand our network could be impaired. Although we believe that we would be able to address our future equipment needs with equipment obtained from other suppliers, we cannot assure that such equipment would be compatible with our network without significant modifications or cost, if at all. If we were unable to obtain the equipment necessary to maintain our network, our ability to attract and retain customers and provide our services would be impaired. In addition, our success depends in part on our obtaining network equipment and software at affordable prices. Significant increases in the price of these products would harm our financial results and may increase our capital requirements.

We depend on third-party vendors for information systems. If these vendors discontinue support for the systems we use or fail to maintain quality in future software releases, we could incur substantial unplanned costs to switch or upgrade our systems or equipment, and we could sustain a negative impact on the quality of our services to customers, the development of new services and features and the quality of information needed to manage our business.

We have entered into agreements with vendors that provide for the development and operation of back office systems, such as ordering, provisioning and billing systems. We also rely on vendors to provide the systems for monitoring the performance and condition of our network. The failure of those vendors to perform their services in a timely and effective manner at acceptable costs could materially harm our growth and our ability to monitor costs, bill customers and carriers, provision customer orders, maintain the network and achieve operating efficiencies. Such a failure could also negatively impact our ability to retain existing customers or to attract new customers.

We use software technology developed internally and by third-party vendors, and hardware technology developed by third-party vendors. We or any of these vendors could be the subject of a lawsuit alleging a violation of the intellectual property of third parties.

We have created software systems, purchased software from third-party vendors and purchased hardware from third-party vendors. Our contracts with these vendors provide indemnification to us should any entity allege that we are violating its intellectual property. Should an entity bring suit or otherwise pursue intellectual property claims against us based on its own technology or the technology of third-party vendors, the result of those claims could be to raise our costs or deny us access to technology currently necessary to our network or software systems.

If we are unable to generate the cash that we need to pursue our business plan, we may have to raise additional capital on terms unfavorable to our stockholders.

The actual amount of capital required to fund our operations and development may vary materially from our estimates. If our operations fail to generate the cash that we expect, we may have to seek additional capital to fund our business. If we are required to obtain additional funding in the future, we may have to sell assets, seek debt financing or obtain additional equity capital. In addition, the terms of our secured revolving line of credit (or "Credit Facility") with Bank of America subjects us to restrictive covenants limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to changes in, our business, and any other indebtedness we incur in the future is likely to include similar covenants. If we do not comply with such covenants, our lenders could accelerate repayment of our debt or restrict our access to further borrowings. If we raise funds by selling more stock, our stockholders' ownership in us will be diluted, and we may grant future investors rights superior to those of the common stockholders. If we are unable to obtain additional capital when needed, we may have to delay, modify or abandon some of our expansion plans. This could slow our growth, negatively affect our ability to compete in our industry and adversely affect our financial condition.

If we cannot negotiate new (or extensions of existing) interconnection agreements with local telephone companies on acceptable terms, it will be more difficult and costly for us to provide service to our existing customers or to expand our business.

We have agreements for the interconnection of our network with the networks of the local telephone companies covering each market in which we operate. These agreements also provide the framework for service to our customers when other local carriers are involved. We will be required to negotiate new interconnection agreements to enter new markets in the future. In addition, we will need to negotiate extension or replacement agreements as our existing interconnection agreements expire. Most of our interconnection agreements have terms of three years, although the parties may mutually decide to extend or amend the terms of such agreements. If we cannot negotiate new interconnection agreements or extend or renew our existing interconnection agreements on favorable terms or at all, we may invoke binding arbitration by state regulatory agencies. The arbitration process is expensive and time-consuming, and the results of arbitration may be unfavorable to us. If we are unable to obtain favorable interconnection terms, or if ILECs are relieved of their obligations to interconnect with us, it would harm our existing operations and opportunities to grow our business in our markets.

The cloud-based computing model presents execution and competitive risks.

We are transitioning to a computing environment characterized by cloud-based services used with smart client devices. Our competitors are rapidly developing and deploying cloud-based services for consumers and business customers. Pricing and delivery models are evolving. Devices and form factors influence how users access services in the cloud. We are devoting significant resources to develop and deploy our own competing cloud-based software plus services strategies. While we believe our expertise, investments in infrastructure, and the breadth of our cloud-based services provides us with a strong foundation to compete, it is uncertain whether our strategies or technologies will attract the users or generate the revenue required to be successful. In addition to software development costs, we are incurring costs to build and maintain infrastructure to support cloud-based services. These costs may reduce the operating margins we have previously achieved. Whether we are successful in this new business model depends on our execution in a number of areas, including:

- continuing to innovate and bring to market compelling cloud-based experiences that generate increasing traffic and market share;
- maintaining the utility, compatibility and performance of our cloud-based services on the growing array of computing devices, including smartphones, handheld computers, netbooks, and tablets; and
- continuing to enhance the attractiveness of our cloud platforms to third-party developers.

We have an MVNO agreement with a nationwide wireless network provider. If we cannot negotiate extensions of this agreement on acceptable terms, it will be more difficult and costly for us to provide mobile services to our existing customers or to expand our business.

We provide mobile services to our customers under a mobile virtual network operator (or "MVNO"), agreement with a nationwide wireless network provider. Upon or before expiration of the current contract term in 2013, we will need to renew this agreement or enter an agreement with another provider. In addition, we will need to negotiate amendments to our MVNO agreement as services or technologies evolve in order to offer competitive services to our customers. If we cannot renew our existing agreement, enter into an agreement with another provider or negotiate amendments on favorable terms or at all, it would harm our existing operations and opportunities to grow our business in our current and new markets.

Our current and future competitors may be better positioned than we are to adapt to rapid changes in technology, and we could lose customers as a result.

The communications industry has experienced, and will probably continue to experience, rapid and significant changes in technology. Technological changes, such as the use of wireless or other alternatives to network access to customers in place of the T-1 or other access lines we lease from the local telephone companies, could render aspects of the technology we employ suboptimal or obsolete and provide a competitive advantage to new or larger competitors who might more easily be able to take advantage of these opportunities. Some of our competitors, including the local telephone companies, have a much longer operating history, more experience in making upgrades to their networks and greater financial resources than we do. We cannot provide assurance that we will be able to obtain access to new technologies, that we will be able to do so as quickly or on the same terms as our competitors, or that we will be able to apply new technologies to our existing networks without incurring significant costs. In addition, responding to demand for new technologies, such as our copper-based and Fiber Optic Metro Ethernet expansion, requires us to increase our capital expenditures, which may require additional financing in order to fund. As a result of those factors, we could lose customers and our financial results could be harmed.

System disruptions could cause delays or interruptions of our service, which could cause us to lose customers or incur additional expenses.

Our success depends on our ability to provide reliable service. Although we have designed our network service to minimize the possibility of service disruptions or other outages, our service may be disrupted by problems on our system, such as malfunctions in our software or other facilities and overloading of our network, and problems with the systems of competitors with which we interconnect, such as physical damage to telephone lines, power surges and outages. Although we have experienced isolated power disruptions and other outages for short time periods, we have not had system-wide disruptions of a sufficient duration or magnitude that have had a significant impact on our customers or our business. Any significant disruption in our network could cause us to lose customers and incur additional expenses.

Business disruptions, including disruptions caused by security breaches, extreme weather, terrorism or other disasters, could harm our future operating results.

The day-to-day operation of our business is highly dependent on the integrity of our communications and information technology systems, and on our ability to protect those systems from damage or interruptions by events beyond our control. Sabotage, computer viruses or other infiltration by third parties could damage our systems. Such events could disrupt our service, damage our facilities, damage our reputation, and cause us to lose customers, among other things, and could harm our results of operations.

In addition, a catastrophic event could materially harm our operating results and financial condition. Catastrophic events could include a terrorist attack on the United States a major natural disaster, extreme

weather, earthquake, fire, or similar event that affects our central offices, corporate headquarters, network operations center, data centers or network equipment. We believe that communications infrastructures, such as the one on which we rely, may be vulnerable in the case of such an event, and our markets, which are major metropolitan areas, may be more likely to be the targets of terrorist activity.

There is no assurance of profitability in the future.

We recorded net losses of \$8.0 million, \$1.7 million and \$2.2 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. We cannot provide any assurance that we will generate positive net income in the future. Future losses could require us to slow our growth and make other changes to our business plans, and could result in an increase in our allowance against our net deferred tax assets.

If our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets become impaired, we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings.

Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (or "GAAP"), we review our amortizable intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually. Factors that may be considered a change in circumstances, indicating that the carrying value of our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets may not be recoverable, include a decline in stock price and market capitalization, reduced future cash flow estimates, and slower growth rates in our industry. We may be required to record a significant charge in our financial statements during the period in which any impairment of our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets is determined, negatively impacting our results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders or issuances of our common stock by us could reduce our stock price.

If our existing stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the market price of our common stock could decline. In the future, we may sell additional shares of our common stock to raise capital. We cannot predict the size of future issuances or the effect, if any, that they may have on the market price of our common stock. We may also issue shares of our common stock from time to time as consideration for future acquisitions and investments. If any such acquisition or investment is significant, the number of shares that we issue may, in turn, be significant. In addition, we may grant registration rights covering those shares in connection with any such acquisitions and investments. The issuance and sales of substantial amounts of common stock, or the perception that such issuances and sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and Delaware corporate law might deter acquisition bids for us that our stockholders might consider favorable.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides for a classified board of directors; the inability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders, to act by written consent, to remove any director or the entire board of directors without cause, or to fill any vacancy on the board of directors; and advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals. Our board of directors is also permitted to authorize the issuance of preferred stock with rights superior to the rights of the holders of common stock without any vote or further action by our stockholders. These provisions and other provisions under Delaware law could make it difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders.

Because we do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock, stockholders will benefit from an investment in our common stock only if it appreciates in value.

The continued expansion of our business will require substantial funding. Accordingly, we do not currently anticipate paying any dividends on shares of our common stock. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon results of operations, financial condition, contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed by applicable law and other factors our board of directors deems relevant. Accordingly, realization of a gain on stockholders' investments will depend on the appreciation of the price of our common stock. There is no guarantee that our common stock will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which stockholders purchased their shares.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

We lease a 165,546 square-foot facility for our corporate headquarters in Atlanta, GA. We also lease data center facilities in Atlanta, GA and Dallas, TX as well as sales office facilities that range between 15,000 to 28,000 square-feet in each of our markets. Our total rental expenses in 2011 were approximately \$1.1 million for our collocation and data center facilities and approximately \$8.4 million for our offices. Additionally, we own a 33,000 square-foot data center in Louisville, KY that is focused on cloud-based services. Management believes that our properties, taken as a whole, are in good operating condition and are suitable for our business operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. We believe that we have adequately reserved for these liabilities and that as of December 31, 2011, there is no litigation pending that could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

As of the date of this filing, we are involved in the preliminary stage of a lawsuit with Klausner Technologies ("Klausner") that Klausner filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas. Klausner sued us and a number of other technology companies on October 27, 2011, alleging that our service violates various patents they have for a technology known as visual voicemail. The term "visual voicemail" describes the ability to select voicemail messages for retrieval in any order, and it is not clear that we utilize any services to which the patents would apply. Although the patents expire in March of next year, the suit seeks past damages. Klausner has previously sued other parties in matters that were settled prior to trial. In addition, Klausner's proposed licensing agreement does not provide us with a methodology to calculate an estimated range of potential liability because it is not yet clear what Cbeyond services, if any, would allegedly violate the asserted patents. As a result, we are currently unable to estimate any possible range of loss which may arise from the lawsuit.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities Market Price Information and Dividend Policy for Our Common Stock

Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol "CBEY."

As of March 1, 2012, there were approximately 55 holders of record of shares of our common stock.

The table below shows, for the quarters indicated, the reported high and low trading prices of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market:

	Mar	ket Prices
	High	Low
Calendar Year 2010		
First quarter	\$16.23	\$10.71
Second quarter	18.05	12.16
Third quarter	15.55	11.59
Fourth quarter	15.89	12.22
Calendar Year 2011		
First quarter	\$16.34	\$11.41
Second quarter	14.74	11.31
Third quarter	13.84	6.97
Fourth quarter	8.53	5.75

As of March 1, 2012, the closing price of our common stock was \$7.45.

We have never paid or declared any dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. The terms of our Credit Facility with Bank of America restrict our ability to pay dividends on our common stock. We currently anticipate that we will use any future earnings for use in the operation of our business and to fund future growth. The decision whether to pay dividends will be made by our board of directors in light of conditions then existing, including factors such as our results of operations, financial condition and requirements, business conditions and covenants under any applicable contractual arrangements or any other factors the board of directors may consider.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

We issue our employees share-based awards under our 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan (or "2005 Plan"), which has been approved by our stockholders. The following table provides information as of December 31, 2011 regarding outstanding options and shares reserved for future issuance under the 2005 Plan:

	Number of securities Weighted- average exercise to be issued upon price of outstanding exercise of outstanding options, options, warrants and		ge exercise outstanding s, warrants	Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding
Plus Co.	warrants and rights	1	rights	securities reflected in
Plan Category Equity compensation plans approved by security holders:	(a)		(b)	column (a)) (c)
2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan	2,314,254	\$	18.05	1,023,360
2002 Equity Incentive Award Plan(1)	1,301,561	\$	7.36	<u> </u>
2000 Equity Incentive Award Plan(1)	507	\$	13.44	
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders	_	\$	_	_
Total	3,616,322	\$	14.20	1,023,360

⁽¹⁾ Shares remaining for issuance under the 2002 Equity Incentive Award Plan and the 2000 Equity Incentive Award Plan were rolled into the 2005 Plan, pursuant to our registration statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-129556) filed with the SEC on November 8, 2005.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

American Stock Transfer and Trust Company is the transfer agent and registrar for our common stock.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

You should read the following selected consolidated financial data in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto and with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" included elsewhere in this report. The consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated balance sheets data as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 are derived from the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this report. The consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the consolidated balance sheets data as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, are derived from audited consolidated financial statements not included herein. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in the future.

	Year Ended December 31,						
	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007		
		(an	nounts in thousand	ds)			
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:							
Revenue	\$485,422	\$451,965	\$413,771	\$349,700	\$280,034		
Operating expenses:							
Cost of revenue (exclusive of \$39,439, \$34,843, \$31,838, \$27,779, and \$22,896 depreciation and amortization,							
respectively)	161,306	146,507	138,093	109,673	84,459		
Selling, general and administrative (exclusive of \$30,456, \$24,461, \$20,002, \$13,797 and \$9,074 depreciation and							
amortization, respectively) (1)	257,740	249,082	228,506	192,354	153,458		
Depreciation and amortization	69,895	59,304	51,840	41,576	31,970		
Total operating expenses	488,941	454,893	418,439	343,603	269,887		
Operating (loss) income	(3,519)	(2,928)	(4,668)	6,097	10,147		
Other income (expense):							
Interest income	_	2	28	846	2,700		
Interest expense	(500)	(281)	(152)	(224)	(252)		
Other income, net	1,211	1,867	498	71			
(Loss) income before income taxes	(2,808)	(1,340)	(4,294)	6,790	12,595		
Income tax (expense) benefit	(5,176)	(314)	2,074	(3,094)	8,903		
Net (loss) income	\$ (7,984)	\$ (1,654)	\$ (2,220)	\$ 3,696	\$ 21,498		

⁽¹⁾ To conform to our current year presentation, we have reclassified amounts previously recognized as Transaction costs and Public offering expenses to Selling, general and administrative expense. Transaction costs were \$755 in 2010 and Public offering expenses were \$2 in 2007.

		Year Ended December 31,					
	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007		
	(a	(amounts in thousands, except per share data and ARPU)					
Consolidated Balance Sheets Data (at period end):							
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 8,521	\$ 26,373	\$ 39,267	\$ 36,975	\$ 56,174		
Working capital	(23,309)	(3,568)	19,801	17,681	27,410		
Total assets	241,072	257,967	228,891	212,487	198,362		
Contingent consideration (1)	4,927	6,824	_	_	_		
Stockholders' equity	163,987	173,121	158,605	143,535	127,318		
Other Financial Data:							
Capital expenditures (2)	77,691	62,832	62,126	69,940	57,534		
Net cash provided by operating activities	75,874	79,149	62,610	48,628	61,808		
Net cash used in investing activities	(78,784)	(92,619)	(60,729)	(67,640)	(45,089)		
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities	(14,942)	576	411	(187)	5,342		
Net (loss) income per common share, basic	\$ (0.27)	\$ (0.06)	\$ (0.08)	\$ 0.13	\$ 0.77		
Net (loss) income per common share, diluted	\$ (0.27)	\$ (0.06)	\$ (0.08)	\$ 0.12	\$ 0.72		
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic	29,224	29,366	28,753	28,339	27,837		
Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted	29,224	29,366	28,753	29,589	29,989		
Non-GAAP Financial Data:							
Total Adjusted EBITDA (3)	\$ 80,163	\$ 72,935	\$ 63,126	\$ 60,560	\$ 52,108		
Free Cash Flow (3)	\$ 2,472	\$ 10,103	\$ 1,000	\$ (9,380)	\$ (5,426)		
Core Managed Services ARPU (3)	\$ 659	\$ 700	\$ 744	\$ 752	\$ 748		

⁽¹⁾ Represents the current and non-current portions of the contingent liability related to the acquisitions of MaximumASP and Aretta (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).

⁽³⁾ Total Adjusted EBITDA, Free Cash Flow and Core Managed Services average monthly revenue per customer location (or "ARPU") are not substitutes for Revenue, Operating (loss) income, Net (loss) income, or Cash flow from operating activities as determined in accordance with GAAP, and are not substitute measures of performance or liquidity. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measure" for our reasons for including Total Adjusted EBITDA and Free Cash Flow data in this report and for material limitations with respect to the usefulness of these measurements. The following table sets forth a reconciliation of Total Adjusted EBITDA and Free Cash Flow to Net (loss) income:

	Year Ended December 31,						
	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007		
Decempiliation of Error Cook Flow and Total Adjusted EDITDA		(an	nounts in thousan	us)			
Reconciliation of Free Cash Flow and Total Adjusted EBITDA							
to Net (loss) income:							
Total Free Cash Flow	\$ 2,472	\$ 10,103	\$ 1,000	\$ (9,380)	\$ (5,426)		
Capital expenditures	77,691	62,832	62,126	69,940	57,534		
Total Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 80,163	\$ 72,935	\$ 63,126	\$ 60,560	\$ 52,108		
Depreciation and amortization	(69,895)	(59,304)	(51,840)	(41,576)	(31,970)		
Non-cash share-based compensation	(14,149)	(15,591)	(15,954)	(12,887)	(9,989)		
MaximumASP purchase accounting adjustments							
(1)	516	(213)	_	_	_		
Transaction costs	(154)	(755)	_				
Public offering expenses	_	_	_	_	(2)		
Interest income	_	2	28	846	2,700		
Interest expense	(500)	(281)	(152)	(224)	(252)		
Other income, net	1,211	1,867	498	71			
Income (loss) before income taxes	(2,808)	(1,340)	(4,294)	6,790	12,595		
Income tax (expense) benefit	(5,176)	(314)	2,074	(3,094)	8,903		
Net (loss) income	\$ (7,984)	\$ (1,654)	\$ (2,220)	\$ 3,696	\$ 21,498		

⁽²⁾ Represents cash and non-cash purchases of property and equipment on a combined basis.

(1) These adjustments include the effect of adjusting acquired deferred revenue and the contingent consideration to fair value. These adjustments affect period-to-period financial performance comparability in periods subsequent to the acquisition and are not indicative of changes in underlying results of operations. We may have similar adjustments in future periods if we have any new acquisitions.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of total revenue to Core Managed Services ARPU:

	Year Ended December 31,				
	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007
		(amounts in	thousands, exc	ept ARPU)	
Reconciliation of Core Managed Services ARPU:					
Total revenue	\$485,422	\$451,965	\$413,771	\$349,700	\$280,034
Cloud Services revenue	(14,613)	(1,791)	_	_	_
Intersegment eliminations	354	7			
(A) Core Managed Servies net revenue	471,163	450,181	413,771	349,700	280,034
(B) Average Core Managed Services customers	59,571	53,588	46,333	38,752	31,192
Core Managed Services ARPU					
(A / B / 12)	\$ 659	\$ 700	\$ 744	\$ 752	\$ 748

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Total Adjusted EBITDA

Our chief executive officer, who is our chief operating decision maker (or "CODM"), uses Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate the performance of our reportable segments. EBITDA represents net income (loss) before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization expense, excluding, when applicable, non-cash share-based compensation, public offering expenses or acquisition-related transaction costs, purchase accounting related adjustments, gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment and other non-operating income or expense. On a less frequent basis, Adjusted EBITDA may exclude charges for employee severances, asset or facility impairments, and other exit activity costs associated with a management directed plan. Our Total Adjusted EBITDA represents the sum of Adjusted EBITDA for each of our segments. We use Total Adjusted EBITDA as a principal indicator of the operating performance of our business on a consolidated basis.

Our Total Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Our management uses Total Adjusted EBITDA in its decision-making processes relating to the operation of our business together with GAAP measures such as revenue and income (loss) from operations.

Our calculation of Total Adjusted EBITDA excludes, when applicable:

- non-cash share-based compensation, loss on disposal of property and equipment and other non-operating income or expense, none of which are used by management to assess the operating results and performance of our segments or our consolidated operations;
- public offering expenses or acquisition-related transaction costs;

- purchase accounting related adjustments, which affect period-to-period financial performance comparability in periods subsequent to the acquisition and are not indicative of changes in underlying results of operations; and
- charges for employee severances, asset or facility impairments, and other exit activity costs associated with a management directed plan.

Our management believes that Total Adjusted EBITDA permits a comparative assessment of our operating performance, relative to our performance based on our GAAP results, while isolating the effects of depreciation and amortization, which may vary from period to period without any correlation to underlying operating performance, and of non-cash share-based compensation, which is a non-cash expense that varies widely among similar companies. We provide information relating to our Total Adjusted EBITDA so that investors have the same data that we employ in assessing our overall operations. We believe that trends in our Total Adjusted EBITDA are a valuable indicator of operating performance on a consolidated basis and of our operating segments' ability to produce operating cash flow to fund working capital needs, to service debt obligations and to fund capital expenditures.

In addition, we believe Total Adjusted EBITDA is a useful comparative measure within the communications industry because the industry has experienced recent trends of increased merger and acquisition activity and financial restructurings, which have led to significant variations among companies with respect to capital structures and cost of capital (which affect interest expense) and differences in taxation and book depreciation of facilities and equipment (which affect relative depreciation expense), including significant differences in the depreciable lives of similar assets among various companies, as well as non-operating or infrequent charges to earnings, such as the effect of debt restructurings.

Accordingly, we believe Total Adjusted EBITDA allows analysts, investors and other interested parties in the communications industry to facilitate company to company comparisons by eliminating some of the foregoing variations. Total Adjusted EBITDA as used in this report may not, however, be directly comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies due to differences in accounting policies and items excluded or included in the adjustments, which limits its usefulness as a comparative measure.

Our calculation of Total Adjusted EBITDA is not directly comparable to EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) or EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization). In addition, Total Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect:

- our cash expenditures, or future requirements, for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;
- changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
- our interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our debts;
- any cash requirements for the replacement of assets being depreciated and amortized, which will often have to be replaced in the future, even though depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges; and
- cash used for business acquisitions.

Total Adjusted EBITDA is not intended to replace operating income (loss), net income (loss) and other measures of financial performance reported in accordance with GAAP. Rather, Total Adjusted EBITDA is a measure of operating performance to consider in addition to those measures. Because of these limitations, Total Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as a measure of discretionary cash available to us to invest in the growth of our business. We compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using Total Adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental financial measure.

Free Cash Flow

Free Cash Flow represents the cash that a company is able to generate after cash expenses and capital expenditures necessary to maintain or expand its asset base. We define Free Cash Flow as Total Adjusted EBITDA less total capital expenditures.

We believe that Free Cash Flow is an important metric for investors in evaluating how a company is currently using cash generated, and may indicate its ability to generate cash that can potentially be used by the business for capital investments, acquisitions, reduction of debt, payment of dividends or share repurchases. Internally, we have also begun to focus on Free Cash Flow as an important operating performance metric and have designed our corporate bonus compensation plan to utilize Free Cash Flow as a component. However, Free Cash Flow is not a measure of financial performance under GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies. Additionally, we do not present or manage Free Cash Flow on a segment basis.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion together with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this report. The discussion in this report contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, such as statements of our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions. The cautionary statements made in this report should be read as applying to all related forward-looking statements wherever they appear in this report. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed here. See "Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" elsewhere in this report.

Business Overview

We formed Cbeyond and began the development of our network and business processes in early 2000. We launched our first market, Atlanta, in early 2001 and have since expanded our Core Managed Services into 13 additional metropolitan markets. Additionally, the establishment of our Cloud Services operations and partnerships with providers of network services outside our geographic markets through MPLS allows us to deliver services outside of these target markets. We aggregate established markets with similar economic characteristics for segment reporting. The markets subject to aggregation are those that we consider established because they have successfully passed through the critical start-up phase and, for the reasons mentioned previously, achieved certain operating performance levels. Currently, a market is considered established upon achieving positive Adjusted EBITDA for at least four consecutive fiscal quarters and otherwise sharing similar long-term economic characteristics as the other established markets. As of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2011, the Miami and Minneapolis markets, respectively, have been re-categorized to the Core Managed Services Established Market grouping due to their achievement of four consecutive fiscal quarters of positive Adjusted EBITDA. We have updated our segment disclosures to retroactively present Miami and Minneapolis as established markets in prior periods (see Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements).

As of December 31, 2011, our reportable segments consist of Core Managed Services Established Markets; the individual Core Managed Services Emerging Markets including, the Greater Washington DC Area, Seattle and Boston; and the Cloud Services segment. The Cloud Services segment was established in the fourth quarter of 2010 after our acquisitions (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).

During 2011, we began to integrate and merge the Cloud Services business unit into the existing operations of the Core Managed Service business and under common functional leadership. We began this effort as part of a strategic shift to directly focus more of our selling and service delivery efforts toward the customers within our target market of small and mid-sized businesses who are more technology-dependent and have more complex IT needs. In addition, we believe this strategic shift may make our historic geographic footprint less relevant as we grow the level of IT and communication services we offer nationally and internationally through our cloud infrastructure. At this time, we have not yet determined what impact these functional and strategic changes will have on our reportable segment structure.

This strategic realignment, which was announced in early 2012, will result in employee severances and may also result in lease abandonments and asset impairments. As of the date of this report, we have not yet finalized the effect of this restructuring activity on our results of operations, but we estimate the impact in the first quarter of 2012 will be approximately \$1.0 million of expense. In addition, we expect that our future capital expenditures and operating expenses will be more focused on selling to technology-dependent customers. Capital expenditures will include the costs of continued build out of a higher bandwidth Fiber Optic and copper-based Metro Ethernet network and additional Cloud Services infrastructure. Operating expenses will include the cost of revenue to support the higher bandwidth network and growth in Cloud Services, as well as the selling expenses of a more focused and consultative sales force. We also expect our revenues to include an increasing proportion of higher ARPU technology-dependent customers in the future. Whereas our gradual strategic shift could result in little to no net growth of overall customer additions in the near term, we expect that in the long-term our ARPU

and customer additions will increase as our customer mix becomes more technology-dependent. Currently, we do not plan to expand our Core Managed Services into new geographic markets in the same manner in which we entered our current markets. However, we may add staff in additional markets and serve customers outside our current 14 markets as we grow our services to technology-dependent customers, particularly those with locations in multiple cities.

We focus on Adjusted EBITDA as a principal indicator of the operating performance of our business and our reportable segments. EBITDA represents net income (loss) before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization expenses, excluding, when applicable, non-cash share-based compensation, public offering or acquisition-related transaction costs, purchase accounting related adjustments, gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment and other non-operating income or expense. In our presentation of segment financial results, Adjusted EBITDA for a geographic segment does not include corporate overhead expense and other centralized operating costs. On a less frequent basis, Adjusted EBITDA may exclude charges for employee severances, asset or facility impairments, and other exit activity costs associated with a management directed plan. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA trends are a valuable indicator of our operating segments' relative performance and ability to produce sufficient operating cash flow to fund working capital needs, to service debt obligations and to fund capital expenditures.

Total Adjusted EBITDA was \$80.2 million in 2011 compared to \$72.9 million in 2010, or a 10.0% increase over the prior year. Cloud Services contributed an additional \$1.6 million in Adjusted EBITDA in 2011 primarily due to the inclusion of a full twelve months of results in 2011 as compared to 2010, which included approximately two months of results given the timing of our acquisitions. Free Cash Flow was \$2.5 million in 2011 compared to \$10.1 million in 2010. Despite an increase in Total Adjusted EBITDA, Free Cash Flow was negatively affected by capital expenditures related to our copper-based Metro Ethernet expansion. We incurred \$20.1 million in capital expenditures associated with the copper-based Metro Ethernet conversion in 2011 compared to \$5.7 million in 2010.

The nature of the primary components of our operating results—Revenue, Cost of revenue and Selling, general and administrative expenses—are described below.

Revenue

Our offerings range from a simple bundle of local and long distance voice communications services with broadband Internet access to a comprehensive offering of discreet IT, network, communications, mobile services, security and professional services. All of such services, other than cloud-based services purchased outside of an integrated package, are delivered over our secure all-IP network via high capacity connections

For businesses that desire basic communications services, we offer an array of flexible packages, known as BeyondVoice packages, designed to address a customer's business needs rather than the size of the customer. Our integrated service offering packages will continue to evolve as the needs of our customers and the relative market change, such as including more cloud-based services in our base integrated packages.

Through our acquisitions we have expanded the service offerings we deliver, most notably by adding virtual and physical servers and cloud PBX services. Our acquisitions bring customers and distribution channels not limited to our traditional geographical markets. We believe the expansion of our product offerings allows us to greatly expand the breadth of services we can deliver to our customers via the web, thus further minimizing or eliminating the need for our customers to invest in complex IT infrastructure and resources while increasing our wallet share opportunity and improving our value proposition. As we continue to focus on and expand our cloud-based services, we expect to expand our addressable customer market and provide more innovative technology to new and existing customers, with a primary focus on the technology-dependent small business customer.

ARPU is impacted by a variety of factors including; introduction of new packages with different pricing, changes in customer demand for certain products or services, changes in customer usage patterns, the proportion of customers signing three-year contracts at lower package prices as compared to shorter term contracts, the distribution of customer installations during a period, the use of customer incentives employed when needed to be competitive, as well as fluctuations in terminating access rates. Customer revenues represented approximately 98.4%, 98.4% and 98.2% of total revenues during 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Access charges paid to us by other communications companies to terminate calls to our customers represented the remainder of total revenues. We do not currently include revenue from the Cloud Services segment or the related intersegment revenue eliminations within our ARPU calculation. Thus, we only utilize Core Managed Services ARPU as our primary revenue metric for our traditional business. With our strategic shift to focus more on technology dependent customers, we have not yet determined the future revenue metrics that best represent the results of the consolidated business.

Core Managed Services customer revenues are generated under one, two, and three-year contracts. Therefore, customer churn rates have an impact on projected future revenue streams. We define customer churn rate for a given month as the number of customer locations disconnected in that month divided by the total number of customer locations on our network at the beginning of that month. Our average customer churn rate for Core Managed Services during 2011, 2010 and 2009 was 1.4%, 1.4% and 1.5%, respectively.

Although not a significant source of revenue, we charge other communications companies for terminating calls to our customers on our network. Terminating access charges have historically grown at a slower rate than our customer base due to reductions in access rates on interstate calls as mandated by the FCC. These rate reductions are expected to continue in the future, so we expect terminating access revenue will continue to grow at a rate slower than our customer growth and possibly decline.

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue represents costs directly related to the operation of our network, including payments to the ILECs and other communications carriers such as long distance providers and our mobile provider, for access, interconnection and transport fees for voice and Internet traffic, customer circuit installation expenses paid to the local telephone companies, fees paid to third-party providers of certain service offerings such as web hosting services, collocation rents and other facility costs, telecommunications-related taxes and fees and the cost of mobile handsets. The primary component of cost of revenue consists of the access fees paid to local telephone companies for high capacity circuits we lease on a monthly basis to provide connectivity to our customers. These access circuits link our customers to our network equipment located in a collocation facility, which we lease from local telephone companies. The access fees for these circuits vary due to a number of factors and are the primary reason for differences in cost of revenue across our markets.

Historically, most of the high capacity circuits we leased have been T-1's, which are the largest component of our circuit access fees. However, we are converting many of our existing customer T-1 circuits and have begun serving new customers using Fiber Optic and copper-based Metro Ethernet in place of T-1 circuits in a number of locations. Although not available to us on a ubiquitous basis in all areas, Ethernet technology provides us with the opportunity to offer a large percentage of our customer's bandwidth at speeds well in excess of T-1 circuits while reducing our ongoing operating expenses. We currently serve just over 20% of our customers with Metro Ethernet and are targeting to have approximately 50% of our existing customer base on Metro Ethernet by 2014. As of December 31, 2011, we incurred \$25.8 million in cumulative capital expenditures associated with the copper-based Ethernet conversion, of which \$20.1 million was incurred during 2011. We have substantially completed our copper-based Metro Ethernet customer conversion project and have shifted focus to our Fiber Optic initiative.

A rising component of cost of revenue is transport cost, which is primarily the cost we incur with ILECs for traffic between central offices where we have collocation equipment, traffic between wire centers without our

presence and our collocations, and intercity traffic between our markets. These costs may increase in the near term as we have built additional collocations to support our Ethernet initiative; however, we expect that the increased transport costs will be offset by greater reductions in future access fees resulting from our investment in Ethernet technology, which provides significantly lower operating expenses than traditional T-1 technology.

Another significant component of our cost of revenue is the cost associated with our mobile offering. These costs include usage-based charges, monthly recurring base charges, or some combination thereof, depending on the type of mobile product in service, and the cost of mobile equipment sold to our customers to facilitate their use of our service. The cost of mobile equipment typically exceeds our selling price of such devices due to the competitive marketplace and pricing practices for mobile services. We believe these costs are offset over time by the long-term profitability of our service contracts.

We routinely receive telecommunication cost recoveries from various local telephone companies to adjust for prior errors in billing, including the effect of price decreases retroactively applied upon the adoption of new rates as mandated by regulatory bodies. These service credits are often the result of negotiated resolutions of bill disputes that we conduct with our vendors. We also receive payments from the local telephone companies in the form of performance penalties that are assessed by state regulatory commissions based on the local telephone companies' performance in the delivery of circuits and other services that we use in our network. Because of the many factors as noted above that impact the amount and timing of telecommunication cost recoveries, the ultimate outcome of these situations is uncertain. Accordingly, we generally recognize telecommunication cost recoveries as offsets to cost of revenue when the ultimate resolution and amount are known and verifiable. These items do not follow any predictable trends and often result in variances when comparing the amounts received over multiple periods.

Though not as significant to our existing overall business, the primary costs of revenue associated with our Cloud Services include licensing fees for the required operating systems, broadband service and access fees, power for our data center facilities and other various costs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Our selling, general and administrative expenses consist of salaries and related costs for employees and other expenses related to sales and marketing, engineering, information technology, billing, regulatory, administrative, collections, legal and accounting functions. In addition, bad debt expense and share-based compensation expense are included in selling, general and administrative expenses. Our selling, general and administrative expenses include both fixed and variable costs. Fixed selling expenses include base salaries and office rent. Variable selling costs include commissions, bonuses and marketing materials. Fixed general and administrative costs include the cost of staffing certain corporate overhead functions such as IT, marketing, administrative, billing and engineering, and associated costs, such as office rent, legal and accounting fees, property taxes and recruiting costs. Variable general and administrative costs include the cost of provisioning and customer activation staff, which grows with the level of installation of new customers, and the cost of customer care and technical support staff, which grows with the level of total customers on our network.

Reclassifications

Reclassifications have been made within Item 7 herein to conform to the presentation of 2011 results. These reclassifications include the following:

- In our December 31, 2010 and 2009 Cost of Revenue table, adjustments were made to disaggregate transport fees for voice and Internet traffic from Other cost of revenue to Transport cost; and
- In our December 31, 2010 and 2009 Selling, General and Administrative and Other Operating Expenses table, adjustments were made to reclassify Transaction costs from Other operating expense to Selling, general and administrative expense. These costs are included within Acquisition related (benefit) expense.

Consolidated Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2010

Revenue (Dollar amounts in thousands, except ARPU)

	For the Year Ended December 31				Change from	
	2011		2010		Previous Periods	
	Dollars	% of Revenue	Dollars	% of Revenue	Dollars	Percent
Revenue:						
Customer revenue	\$477,854	98.4%	\$444,848	98.4%	\$33,006	7.4%
Terminating access revenue	7,568	1.6%	7,117	1.6%	451	6.3%
Total revenue	485,422		451,965		33,457	7.4%
Cost of revenue	161,306	33.2%	146,507	32.4%	14,799	10.1%
Gross margin (exclusive of depreciation and			****		***	
amortization):	\$324,116	66.8%	\$305,458	67.6%	\$18,658	6.1%
Customer data:						
Core Managed Services customer locations at						
period end	62,169		56,972		5,197	9.1%
Core Managed Services ARPU	\$ 659		\$ 700		\$ (41)	(5.9)%
Core Managed Services average monthly churn	·					
rate	1.4%		1.4%		(0.0)%	

The following comprises the segment contributions to revenue in 2011 compared to 2010: (Dollar amounts in thousands):

	For the Year Ended December 31				Change from	
	201	<u> </u>	2010	0	Previous l	Periods
Segment Revenue:	Dollars	% of Revenue	Dollars	% of Revenue	Dollars	Percent
Core Managed Services Established Markets	\$452,222	93.2%	\$441,115	97.6%	\$11,107	2.5%
Core Managed Services Emerging Markets:						
Greater Washington, D.C. Area	9,260	1.9%	6,291	1.4%	2,969	47.2%
Seattle	8,436	1.7%	2,691	0.6%	5,745	213.5%
Boston	1,245	0.3%	84	nm	1,161	nm
Core Managed Services total emerging markets	18,941	3.9%	9,066	2.0%	9,875	108.9%
Total Core Managed Services	471,163	97.1%	450,181	99.6%	20,982	4.7%
Cloud Services	14,613	3.0%	1,791	0.4%	12,822	nm
Intersegment elimination	(354)	nm	(7)	nm	(347)	nm
Total revenue	\$485,422		\$451,965		\$33,457	<u>7.4</u> %

nm—not meaningful

Revenue. Total revenue increased in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to an increase in the average number of Core Managed Services customers. Cloud Services contributed an additional \$12.8 million in revenue in 2011 primarily due to the inclusion of a full twelve months of results in 2011 as compared to 2010, which included approximately two months of results given the timing of our acquisitions.

Core Managed Services segment revenue increased 4.7% during 2011, and Core Managed Services ARPU declined \$41, or 5.9%. The decline in ARPU is primarily due to the lower prices of the new packages introduced in 2010, existing customers converting to lower priced packages, decreased charges for usage above levels of voice minutes included in our packages, customers reducing the number of additional lines and services with incremental charges, and decreased adoption of our mobile services. We believe the decline is related to the effects of the ongoing current economic conditions on customers and the continued increased competitive pressures from alternate providers, such as cable companies. This downward pressure has been partially offset by the value delivered through selling additional service offerings.

We anticipate that ARPU will continue to decline in the short-term for the reasons noted above; however, we also anticipate that recent changes to our service packages will decrease the rate of the ARPU decline by increasing the proportion of new, higher ARPU, technology-dependent customers. Long-term, we expect that our new strategy to focus on technology-dependent customers will increasingly benefit ARPU. Growth in our Cloud Services revenue decreased in the fourth quarter of 2011 as compared with prior periods due to our decision to limit the adoption of our cloud PBX services until we made improvements to the platform stability to support greater levels of scale. In addition, we decided to discontinue collocation services to focus more fully on cloud server opportunities to better serve technology-dependent customers. We anticipate that Cloud Services revenue growth will accelerate in 2012 as we increase the number of direct sales representatives dedicated to Cloud Services.

Cost of Revenue (Dollar amounts in thousands)

	F	or the Year Ende		Change	from		
	2011	1	2010		Previous	Periods	
		% of		% of			
	Dollars	Revenue	Dollars	Revenue	Dollars	Percent	
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization):							
Circuit access fees	72,549	14.9%	64,726	14.3%	7,823	12.1%	
Other cost of revenue	47,298	9.7%	40,005	8.9%	7,293	18.2%	
Transport cost	24,355	5.0%	20,301	4.5%	4,054	20.0%	
Mobile cost	22,358	4.6%	26,712	5.9%	(4,354)	(16.3)%	
Telecommunications cost recoveries	(5,254)	(1.1)%	(5,237)	(1.2)%	(17)	0.3%	
Total cost of revenue	161,306	33.2%	146,507	32.4%	14,799	10.1%	

Cost of Revenue. The principal driver of the overall increase in cost of revenue is customer growth. Cloud Services contributed an additional \$3.2 million in cost of revenue in 2011 primarily due to the inclusion of a full twelve months of results in 2011 as compared to 2010, which included approximately two months of results given the timing of our acquisitions. Cost of revenue directly associated with migrating customers to copper-based Ethernet technology totaled \$2.8 million during 2011. In addition, indirect costs we attribute to our copper-based Ethernet initiative totaled \$1.8 million during 2011.

Circuit access fees, or line charges, represent the largest component of cost of revenue. These costs primarily relate to our lease of circuits connecting our equipment at network points of collocation to our equipment located at our customers' premises. The increase in circuit access fees has historically correlated to the increase in the number of customers. However, we have experienced increased costs as we have expanded in certain markets with higher access fees and sold additional bandwidth to existing customers. Circuit access fees also include \$1.1 million of direct conversion expenses related to copper-based Ethernet conversions and \$1.8 million of certain indirect costs in 2011. These indirect costs relate to inefficiencies in our circuit disconnect process and other unanticipated costs identified during the third quarter that we attribute to our copper-based Ethernet initiative and do not except to reoccur in the future. Circuit access fees increased as a percentage of revenue primarily due to a decrease in Core Managed Services ARPU. We expect circuit access fees as a percentage of revenue to stabilize over time as we convert customers to Ethernet technology, which we expect will reduce operating costs, and as ARPU stabilizes.

Other cost of revenue principally includes components such as long distance charges, installation costs to connect new circuits, the cost of local interconnection with the local telephone companies' networks, Internet access costs, the cost of third-party service offerings we provide to our customers, costs to deliver our cloud-based services and certain taxes and fees. Other cost of revenue increased as a percentage of revenue in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to customer growth outpacing revenue growth. In addition, we experienced a \$1.7 million increase in installation costs during 2011 relating to the copper-based Ethernet conversion initiative.

Transport cost is a rising component of cost of revenue and may continue to rise in the near term at a rate outpacing customer growth as we build additional collocations to support our Fiber Optic and copper-based Metro Ethernet initiative. Long-term, we expect transport costs to stabilize and relative decreases to access costs on a per-customer basis given the cost savings of Ethernet access over traditional T-1 access.

As a percentage of revenue, mobile costs decreased in 2011 compared to 2010. The primary drivers of this decrease are reductions in service costs due to better rates and mobile device costs as a result of lower volumes. The reduction in shipments stems from a lower percentage of new customers electing mobile services primarily due to a reduction in our use of promotional and other incentives. Additionally, we have been able to negotiate and achieve more efficient unit service costs. Though we do not currently anticipate significant changes in the percentage of customers using our mobile services in the future, we have recently been investing in the latest model mobile devices. As such, we do not anticipate mobile costs will continue to decline from current levels in the near term.

Selling, General and Administrative and Other Operating Expenses (Dollar amounts in thousands, except monthly selling, general and administrative expenses per average customer location)

	F	For the Year Ended December 31				from
	201		201		Previous	Periods
		% of		% of		
	Dollars	Revenue	Dollars	Revenue	Dollars	Percent
Selling, general and administrative (exclusive of depreciation						
and amortization):						
Salaries, wages and benefits (excluding share-based						
compensation)	\$160,074	33.0%	\$150,205	33.2%	\$ 9,869	6.6%
Share-based compensation	14,149	2.9%	15,591	3.4%	(1,442)	(9.2)%
Marketing cost	2,739	0.6%	3,440	0.8%	(701)	(20.4)%
Acquisition related (benefit) expense	(426)	(0.1)%	755	0.2%	(1,181)	(156.4)%
Other selling, general and administrative	81,204	16.7%	79,091	17.5%	2,113	2.7%
Total SG&A	\$257,740	53.1%	\$249,082	55.1%	\$ 8,658	3.5%
Other operating expenses:						
Depreciation and amortization	69,895	14.4%	59,304	13.1%	10,591	17.9%
Total other operating expenses	\$ 69,895	14.4%	\$ 59,304	13.1%	\$10,591	17.9%
Other data:						
Monthly SG&A per average Core Managed Services						
customer locations	\$ 348		\$ 384		<u>\$ (36)</u>	(9.4)%
Average Employees	1,957		1,814		143	7.9%

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses and Other Operating Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased in 2011 compared to 2010, primarily due to increased employee salaries, wages and benefits. Total selling, general and administrative expenses also includes \$7.9 million of additional expenses from our new Cloud Services segment; and approximately \$2.9 million in employee cost and other expenses associated with migrating customers to copper-based Ethernet technology during 2011. The overall

increase in selling, general and administrative expenses is partially offset by certain decreased expenses, including bad debt expense and share-based compensation.

Higher employee costs, which include salaries, wages, benefits and other compensation paid to our direct sales representatives and sales agents, principally relate to the additional employees necessary to staff emerging markets and Cloud Services, and to serve the growth in customers. We incurred approximately \$5.5 million more in compensation costs in 2011 than in 2010 due to Cloud Services employees who were not with us for the full year in 2010. Overall, the increase in salaries, wages and benefits over the prior respective periods was consistent with the growth in the average number of employees. As a percentage of revenue, employee costs during 2011 remained consistent with the prior period. During the third and fourth quarters of 2011, management recommended and the Board of Directors approved to reduce the accrued payout level under our 2011 corporate incentive plan based on management's assessment that the quality of results warranted a lower achievement level than expected under the plan's parameters. We believe this amendment to the plan better aligned management's compensation with the interests of stockholders. These actions resulted in a \$1.8 million reduction to employee costs during 2011.

Share-based compensation expense decreased overall and as a percentage of revenue in 2011 compared to 2010, primarily due to a decline in the fair value of awards granted based on lower share prices in recent periods. As our share price has declined from its height in 2007, we have experienced decreases in our share-based compensation expense related to the full vesting of higher historical valued awards granted.

Additionally, during the third quarter of 2011, the vesting of certain non-employee performance awards was no longer considered probable.

Marketing costs decreased in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to lower advertising and promotional activity as we reduced costs while focusing on our strategic shift to focus on technology-dependent customers. Acquisition related (benefit) expense during 2011 includes a \$0.6 million fair value adjustment to reduce our contingent consideration liability related to the MaximumASP acquisition based on actual revenue achievement. In 2010, acquisition related (benefit) expense primarily includes direct transaction costs associated with our acquisitions, which includes accounting, legal, and other professional fees.

Other selling, general and administrative expenses primarily include professional fees, outsourced services, rent and other facilities costs, maintenance, recruiting fees, travel and entertainment costs, property taxes and bad debt expense. The increase in this category of costs is primarily due to the addition of new and expanded operations needed to keep pace with the growth in customers. The improvement as a percentage of revenue is partially attributable to improved bad debt expense over the prior year and stronger overall cost controls as we scale back overhead growth due to slowing revenue growth.

Bad debt expense associated with Core Managed Services was \$6.5 million, or 1.3% of revenues, compared to \$7.5 million, or 1.7% of revenues, during 2011 and 2010, respectively. This decline was primarily from stronger cash collections and more stringent credit policies in place in the current year.

The increase in depreciation and amortization in 2011 compared to 2010 relates primarily to a 23.6% increase in capital expenditures during 2011 compared to 2010. In addition, we recognized \$3.4 million of depreciation and amortization in 2011 from assets acquired through the Cloud Services acquisitions in late 2010.

Over time, as more markets achieve positive Adjusted EBITDA and as our customer base and revenues grow, we expect selling, general and administrative costs to decrease as a percentage of revenue. Excluding depreciation and amortization, our selling, general and administrative cost per customer location in 2011 was 9.4% lower than in 2010. These efficiency gains were offset by declining ARPU, resulting in a more modest decrease in these costs relative to revenues.

Operating Loss

We incurred operating losses in 2011 and 2010 of \$3.5 million and \$2.9 million, respectively. The operating loss during 2011 was primarily driven by the \$5.7 million of direct costs, and \$1.8 million of indirect costs, attributed to our copper-based Ethernet initiative; increased depreciation and amortization as a result of increased capital expenditures and acquired tangible and intangible assets from our acquisitions; and decreasing Core Managed Services ARPU. Substantially all of the 2010 operating loss was generated in the fourth quarter, which reflects the incurrence of approximately \$1.2 million in costs associated with our Ethernet conversion project, \$0.8 million of transaction costs from our Cloud Services acquisitions, and \$0.6 million in asset write-offs from abandoning a planned market launch. The remaining fourth quarter 2010 operating loss resulted primarily from the decline in Core Managed Services ARPU.

Other Income (Expense) and Income Taxes (Dollar amounts in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31				Change from		
201	1	2010		Previous	Periods	
	% of		% of		_	
Dollars	Revenue	Dollars	Revenue	Dollars	Percent	
_	nm	2	nm	(2)	nm	
(500)	(0.1)%	(281)	(0.1)	(219)	77.9%	
1,211	0.2%	1,867	0.4%	(656)	(35.1)%	
(5,176)	(1.1)%	(314)	(0.1)%	(4,862)	1,548.4%	
<u>\$(4,465)</u>	(0.9)%	\$1,274	0.3%	\$(5,739)	(450.5)%	
	Dollars (500) 1,211 (5,176)	2011 Dollars % of Revenue — nm (500) (0.1)% 1,211 0.2% (5,176) (1.1)%	2011 20 Dollars Revenue Dollars — nm 2 (500) (0.1)% (281) 1,211 0.2% 1,867 (5,176) (1.1)% (314)	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	

Interest Expense. The majority of our interest expenses in 2011 and 2010 relate to commitment fees under our Credit Facility, and are higher in 2011 due to the increase in our Credit Facility from \$25.0 million to \$40.0 million early in 2010 and then to \$75.0 million early in 2011. We had no amounts outstanding under our Credit Facility as of December 31, 2011.

Other income, net. During 2011 and 2010, we recognized other income of \$1.2 million and \$1.9 million, respectively, which primarily relates to adjusting liabilities of our former captive leasing subsidiaries upon the expiration of various statutory periods (see Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements).

Income Tax Expense. In 2011 we recorded income tax expense despite having a pre-tax loss of \$2.8 million due to income taxes in states with gross receipts-based taxes, which are due regardless of profit levels, the write-off of certain deferred tax assets associated with share-based transactions (see Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements), and an increase in our valuation allowance against our net deferred tax asset. We also recorded income tax expense in 2010 on a pre-tax loss of \$1.3 million. Since gross receipts-based taxes are not dependent upon levels of pre-tax income and because we are near break-even at a pre-tax level, these taxes have a significant influence on our effective tax rate. As the operating results for the markets in these states become proportionately less significant to the consolidated results and as consolidated pre-tax income increases, the impact of these gross receipts-based taxes on our effective tax rate will decline. We recorded income tax expense in 2011 related to increases in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance of approximately \$3.6 million. In 2010, income tax expense benefited by \$0.6 million due to reductions in the valuation allowance.

Our net deferred tax assets, before valuation allowance, totaled approximately \$41.6 million and \$42.2 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and primarily relate to net operating loss carryforwards. We maintain a valuation allowance, which reduces our net deferred income tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. As of December 31, 2011, our valuation allowance was \$36.9 million. In evaluating our ability to realize our deferred income tax assets we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including our historical operating results, ongoing tax planning and forecasts of future taxable income. Our evaluation led us to increase our valuation allowance by \$4.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2011, resulting in

additional income tax expense. In order to realize the benefits of the deferred tax assets recognized at December 31, 2011, we will need to generate approximately \$13.3 million of taxable income in the foreseeable future, which, based on current projected performance, management expects to be able to achieve. If future results are less favorable than our projections or if the projected benefits of our investments fall short of our expectations, we may have to increase our allowance against our net deferred tax asset with a corresponding increase to income tax expense. If we generate taxable income in excess of projections, the result would be a reduction of the allowance against our net deferred tax asset and a corresponding benefit to income tax expense

Consolidated Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009

Revenue (Dollar amounts in thousands, except ARPU)

		For the Year End	Change	from		
	2010	0	2009	9	Previous Periods	
	Dollars	% of Revenue	Dollars	% of Revenue	Dollars	Percent
Revenue:						
Customer revenue	\$444,848	98.4%	\$406,472	98.2%	\$38,376	9.4%
Terminating access revenue	7,117	1.6%	7,299	1.8%	(182)	(2.5)%
Total revenue	451,965		413,771		38,194	9.2%
Cost of revenue	146,507	32.4%	138,093	33.4%	8,414	6.1%
Gross margin (exclusive of depreciation and amortization):	\$305,458	67.6%	\$275,678	66.6%	\$29,780	10.8%
Customer data:						
Core Managed Services customer locations at period end	56,972		50,203		6,769	13.5%
Core Managed Services ARPU	\$ 700		\$ 744		\$ (44)	(5.9)%
Core Managed Services average monthly churn rate	1.4%		1.5%		(0.1)%	

The following comprises the segment contributions to revenue for 2010 compared to 2009:

(Dollar amounts in thousands)

	F	or the Year Ende				
	2010)	200	9	Change Previous	
Segment Revenue:	Dollars	% of Revenue	Dollars	% of Revenue	Dollars	Percent
Core Managed Services Established Markets	\$441,115	97.6%	\$412,071	99.6%	\$29,044	7.0%
Greater Washington, D.C. Area	6,291	1.4%	1,603	0.4%	4,688	292.5%
Seattle	2,691	0.6%	97	nm	2,594	nm
Boston	84	nm		nm	84	nm
Core Managed Services total emerging markets	9,066	2.0%	1,700	0.4%	7,366	433.3%
Total Core Managed Services	450,181	99.6%	413,771	100.0%	36,410	8.8%
Cloud Services	1,791	0.4%	_	nm	1,791	nm
Intersegment elimination	(7)	nm		nm	<u>(7)</u>	nm
Total revenue	\$451,965		\$413,771		\$38,194	9.2%

Revenue. Total revenue increased in 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to an increase in the average number of Core Managed Services customers and \$1.8 million in revenue from our Cloud Services segment. In comparison to 2009, Core Managed Services ARPU declined \$44, or 5.9%. The decline in ARPU is primarily due to the lower prices of the new packages introduced in 2010, existing customers converting to lower priced packages, decreased charges for usage above levels of voice minutes included in our packages from customers reducing the number of additional lines and services with incremental charges, and decreased adoption of our mobile services. We believe these declines are related to the effects of the economic recession on customers and increased competitive pressures. This downward pressure has been partially offset by the value delivered through selling additional applications. In addition, we experienced an increase in redemptions of previously issued promotional incentives, which resulted in a reduction to revenue of \$1.5 million, or approximately (\$2) of Core Managed Services ARPU, in 2010. This is compared to an increase to revenue of \$0.5 million, or approximately \$1 of Core Managed Services ARPU, in 2009, related to lower redemptions of previously issued promotional incentives. We believe this change in customer behavior is directly related to the economic environment and competitive pressure.

Revenue from access charges paid to us by other communications companies to terminate calls to our customers declined by approximately \$0.2 million primarily due to a billing dispute filed by a major carrier during the third quarter of 2010 which had an overall negative impact on terminating access revenue of approximately \$0.6 million in 2010. As we continued to evaluate the dispute and pursued a resolution, we were no longer recognizing the access charge revenue associated with this carrier due to the uncertainty of collectability. Terminating access charges have historically grown at a slower rate than our customer base due to our customers' increased use of mobile services and reductions in access rates on interstate calls as mandated by the FCC.

Cost of Revenue (Dollar amounts in thousands)

Fo	or the Year Ende		Change	from	
2010		2009		Previous	Periods
	% of		% of		_
Dollars	Revenue	Dollars	Revenue	Dollars	Percent
64,726	14.3%	54,219	13.1%	10,507	19.4%
40,005	8.9%	34,993	8.5%	5,012	14.3%
20,301	4.5%	17,715	4.3%	2,586	14.6%
26,712	5.9%	35,635	8.6%	(8,923)	(25.0)%
(5,237)	(1.2)%	(4,469)	(1.1)%	(768)	17.2%
146,507	32.4%	138,093	33.4%	8,414	6.1%
	Dollars 64,726 40,005 20,301 26,712 (5,237)	2010 Dollars % of Revenue 64,726 14.3% 40,005 8.9% 20,301 4.5% 26,712 5.9% (5,237) (1.2)% 146,507 32.4%	Dollars % of Revenue Dollars 64,726 14.3% 54,219 40,005 8.9% 34,993 20,301 4.5% 17,715 26,712 5.9% 35,635 (5,237) (1.2)% (4,469) 146,507 32.4% 138,093	2010 2009 Dollars % of Revenue Dollars % of Revenue 64,726 14.3% 54,219 13.1% 40,005 8.9% 34,993 8.5% 20,301 4.5% 17,715 4.3% 26,712 5.9% 35,635 8.6% (5,237) (1.2)% (4,469) (1.1)% 146,507 32.4% 138,093 33.4%	2010 2009 Previous Dollars % of Revenue Dollars Previous 64,726 14.3% 54,219 13.1% 10,507 40,005 8.9% 34,993 8.5% 5,012 20,301 4.5% 17,715 4.3% 2,586 26,712 5.9% 35,635 8.6% (8,923) (5,237) (1.2)% (4,469) (1.1)% (768) 146,507 32.4% 138,093 33.4% 8,414

Cost of Revenue. The principal driver of the overall increase in cost of revenue was customer growth, reduced by mobile-related cost savings and beneficial telecommunication cost recoveries. Cost of revenue for 2010 also includes \$0.4 million related to our Cloud Services segment.

Circuit access fees, or line charges, represent the largest single component of cost of revenue. These costs primarily relate to our lease of T-1 circuits connecting our equipment at network points of collocation to our equipment located at our customers' premises. The increase in circuit access fees has historically correlated to the increase in the number of customers. However, we have experienced increased costs as we have expanded in certain markets with higher access fees, sold additional bandwidth to existing customers, and incurred transitional costs while migrating customers to Ethernet technology.

Other cost of revenue principally includes components such as long distance charges, installation costs to connect new circuits, the cost of transport circuits between network points of presence, the cost of local interconnection with the local telephone companies' networks, internet access costs, the cost of third-party applications we provide to our customers, access costs paid by us to other carriers to terminate calls from our customers and certain taxes and fees. Other cost of revenue increased as a percentage of revenue over the prior period primarily due to customer growth outpacing revenue growth.

Mobile-related costs represent the second largest single component of cost of revenue. As a percentage of revenue, mobile service costs benefitted from a reduction in mobile device cost, which is a result of shipping fewer devices in 2010 at a more favorable average cost per device. The reduction in shipments stems from a lower percentage of new customers electing to include mobile services in their package, primarily due to a reduction in our use of promotional and other incentives. Additionally, we have been able to negotiate and achieve more efficient unit service costs.

Telecommunication cost recoveries are an ongoing operational activity that fluctuate from period to period. During 2010, telecommunication cost recoveries increased \$0.8 million due to TRRO-related cost recoveries, cost recoveries from negotiated resolutions of billing disputes with our telecommunication vendors across various markets, and performance penalties received from local telephone companies.

Selling, General and Administrative and Other Operating Expenses (Dollar amounts in thousands)

	F	or the Year Ende	Change from			
	201	0	200		Previous 1	Periods
	Dollars	% of Revenue	Dollars	% of Revenue	Dollars	Percent
Selling, general and administrative (exclusive of depreciation and amortization):			2 22 22			
Salaries, wages and benefits (excluding share-based						
compensation)	\$150,205	33.2%	\$136,898	33.1%	\$13,307	9.7%
Share-based compensation	15,591	3.4%	15,954	3.9%	(363)	(2.3)%
Marketing cost	3,440	0.8%	2,955	0.7%	485	16.4%
Acquisition related (benefit) expense	755	0.2%	_	nm	755	nm
Other selling, general and administrative	79,091	17.5%	72,699	17.6%	6,392	8.8%
Total SG&A	\$249,082	55.1%	\$228,506	55.2%	\$20,576	9.0%
Other operating expenses:						
Depreciation and amortization	59,304	13.1%	51,840	12.5%	7,464	14.4%
Total other operating expenses	\$ 59,304	13.1%	\$ 51,840	12.5%	\$ 7,464	14.4%
Other data:						
SG&A per average Core Managed Services customer	\$ 384		\$ 411		<u>\$ (27)</u>	(6.6)%
Average employees	1,814		1,639		175	10.7%

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses and Other Operating Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased in 2010 primarily due to increased employee costs, but decreased as a percentage of revenue due to lower commission payments, lower share-based compensation expense, a decrease in bad debt expense, greater overall cost control measures, and government incentives of approximately \$0.9 million attributable to new jobs created during 2009 and 2010. Higher employee costs, which include salaries, wages, benefits and other compensation paid to our direct sales representatives and sales agents, principally relate to the additional employees necessary to staff new markets and to serve the growth in customers. Total

selling, general and administrative expenses also includes \$1.1 million of additional expenses from our new Cloud Services segment in 2010.

Share-based compensation expense decreased as a percentage of revenue and overall from the prior year, primarily related to a lower stock price in recent years.

Marketing costs have been stable as a percent of revenues over the prior year. In general, our marketing costs increase as we add customers and expand into new markets.

Acquisition related (benefit) expense includes accounting, legal, consulting and other directly related professional fees associated with our recent Cloud Services acquisitions.

Other selling, general and administrative expenses include professional fees, outsourced services, rent and other facilities costs, maintenance, recruiting fees, travel and entertainment costs, property taxes and bad debt expense. The increase is primarily due to the addition of new and expanded operations needed to keep pace with the growth in customers. The stability as a percentage of revenue is partially attributable to improved bad debt expense over the prior year.

Bad debt expense was \$7.5 million, or 1.7% of Core Managed Services revenues in 2010 compared to \$9.1 million, or 2.2% of revenues in 2009. This decline is primarily driven by our decreased Core Managed Services customer churn rate since the rate of bad debts and customer churn are typically closely related.

Other operating expenses include depreciation and amortization. The increase in depreciation and amortization over the prior year relates primarily to 2010 capital expenditures; \$0.5 million of depreciation and amortization from assets acquired through the recent Cloud Services acquisitions; and, a \$0.6 million write-down of assets related to the build-out of collocations in a planned new market prior to our decision in mid-December 2010 to not expand into this market in 2011.

Operating Loss

We incurred operating losses of \$2.9 million and \$4.7 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. Substantially all of the 2010 operating loss was generated in the fourth quarter, which reflects the incurrence of approximately \$1.2 million in costs associated with our Ethernet conversion project, \$0.8 million of transaction costs from our Cloud Services acquisitions, and \$0.6 million in asset write-offs from abandoning a planned market launch. The remaining fourth quarter 2010 operating loss resulted primarily from the decline in Core Managed Services ARPU. The overall improvement in operating loss in 2010 is principally attributable to achieving greater scale in our emerging markets. We had nine markets with operating income in 2010 compared to seven markets in 2009. Additionally, the reduction in mobile-related device and service costs has also contributed to the decreased operating loss in 2010.

Other Income (Expense) and Income Taxes (Dollar amounts in thousands)

	For the Year Ended December 31,			Change from		
	20	10	200	09	Previous	Periods
		% of		% of		
	Dollars	Revenue	Dollars	Revenue	Dollars	Percent
Interest income	\$ 2	nm	\$ 28	nm	\$ (26)	(92.9)%
Interest expense	(281)	(0.1)%	(152)	nm	(129)	84.9%
Other income, net	1,867	0.4%	498	0.1%	1,369	274.9%
Income tax (expense) benefit	(314)	(0.1)%	2,074	0.5%	(2,388)	(115.1)%
Total	\$1,274	0.3%	\$2,448	0.6%	\$(1,174)	nm

Interest Income. We had insignificant interest income in 2010 based on our decision to shift funds from investment to non-interest bearing operating bank accounts. This decision was made because the resulting reduction in bank fees was greater than the amount of interest income we would have earned due to the low rates currently paid on our money market investments.

Interest Expense. The majority of our interest expense in 2010 and 2009 relates to commitment fees under our Credit Facility, and were higher in 2010 due to increasing our Credit Facility from \$25.0 million to \$40.0 million early in 2010. We had no amounts outstanding under our Credit Facility during 2010 and 2009.

Other income, net. During 2010 and 2009, we recognized other income of \$1.9 million and \$0.5 million, respectively, which primarily relates to adjusting liabilities of our former captive leasing subsidiaries upon the expiration of various statutory periods, as discussed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Income Tax (Expense) Benefit. In 2010 we recorded income tax expense despite having a pre-tax loss of \$1.3 million due to income taxes in states with gross receipts based taxes, which are due regardless of profit levels, and the write-off of certain deferred tax assets associated with share-based transactions (discussed more fully in Note 9 of the consolidated financial statements). We recorded an income tax benefit in 2009 on a pre-tax loss of \$4.3 million in 2009. In 2009, we incurred gross receipts based state income taxes as well, but, due to the higher loss before income taxes, they were offset by the effect of the income tax benefit for federal and other non-gross receipts based state taxes. Since gross receipts based taxes are not dependent upon levels of pre-tax income and because we are near break-even at a pre-tax level, these taxes have a significant influence on our effective tax rate. As the operating results for the markets in these states become proportionately less significant to the consolidated results and as consolidated pre-tax income increases, the impact of these gross receipts based taxes on our effective tax rate will decline. The income tax amounts recorded in 2010 and 2009 benefitted from reductions in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance of approximately \$0.6 million in each year. Income tax expense for 2010 also included activity related to acquisitions made in 2010.

Segment Data

We monitor and analyze our financial results on a segment basis for reporting and management purposes, as is presented in Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements hereto.

Liquidity and Capital Resources (Dollar amounts in thousands)

At December 31, 2011, we had cash and cash equivalents of \$8.5 million. The available cash and cash equivalents are held primarily in our operating bank accounts.

					Change from	Previous Period	
	For the	Year Ended Decen	nber 31	Doll	lars	Perce	ent
	2011	2010	2009	2011 v 2010	2010 v 2009	2011 v 2010	2010 v 2009
Cash Flows:							
Provided by operating							
activities	\$ 75,874	\$ 79,149	\$ 62,610	\$ (3,275)	\$ 16,539	(4.1)%	26.4%
Used in investing activities	(78,784)	(92,619)	(60,729)	13,835	(31,890)	(14.9)%	52.5%
(Used in) provided by							
financing activities	(14,942)	576	411	(15,518)	165	nm	40.1%
Net (decrease) increase in cash and							
cash equivalents	\$(17,852)	\$(12,894)	\$ 2,292	\$ (4,958)	\$ (15,186)	38.5%	(662.6)%
cash equivalents	φ(17,832)	φ(12,894)	\$ 2,29Z	φ (4,938)	\$ (13,180)	38.3%	(002.0)%

Cash Flows from Operating Activities. Our operating cash flows result primarily from cash received from our customers, offset by cash payments for circuit access fees, employee compensation (less amounts capitalized related to internal use software that are reflected as cash used in investing activities), and operating leases. Cash received from our customers generally corresponds to our revenue. Because our credit terms are typically less than one month, our receivables settle quickly. Changes to our operating cash flows have historically been driven primarily by changes in operating income and changes to the components of working capital, including changes to receivable and payable days. Operating cash flows may fluctuate favorably or unfavorably depending on the timing of significant vendor payments, which we may influence depending on our cash requirements.

Operating cash flows decreased in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to a greater net loss, resulting in \$6.3 million of reduced cash flows, higher bonus payments of \$1.2 million, which are paid annually during the first quarter, and lease payment escalations for our facilities over that of the prior year. As previously discussed, the direct and indirect costs of converting to Ethernet technology were a significant factor in driving our operating and net loss for the year. Operating cash flows increased during 2010 compared to 2009 primarily from increased revenues along with a higher number of markets that were achieving positive operating cash flows and a narrowing of the losses we were incurring in earlier stage markets as they made progress towards profitability. Furthermore, collection of accounts receivable improved in 2010 compared to 2009, resulting in a \$5.6 million increase in cash flows. We also experienced cash flow savings from decreasing our inventory purchases as we had a lower percentage of new customers electing mobile services in their package.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities. Our principal cash investments are purchases of property and equipment, which fluctuate depending on the growth in customers in our existing markets, the timing and number of facility and network additions needed to expand existing markets and upgrade our network, enhancements and development costs related to our operational support systems in order to offer additional applications and services to our customers, and increases to the capacity of our data centers as our customer base and the breadth of our product portfolio expand.

We continue to invest in the conversion to Ethernet technology to reduce operating expenses and provide higher bandwidth services to our customers. We believe that capital efficiency is a key advantage of the IP-based network technology that we employ. Our cash purchases of property and equipment during 2011 included approximately \$20.1 million related to the copper-based Ethernet conversion project compared to \$5.7 million in 2010.

We paid \$1.2 million in deferred acquisition consideration related to our Cloud Services acquisitions in 2011 and expect to pay an additional \$4.9 million of contingent consideration related to these acquisitions in 2012. Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2010 we closed our Cloud Services acquisitions and paid closing date consideration of \$30.6 million, net of cash acquired.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities. Cash flows from financing activities relate to activity associated with employee stock option exercises, vesting of restricted shares, financing costs associated with the fourth and fifth amendments to our Credit Facility, and the repurchase of common stock. We repurchased 1.3 million shares for \$13.0 million in 2011 under the \$15 million repurchase program authorized by our Board of Directors in May 2011. No additional shares have been repurchased subsequent to December 31, 2011.

Overall. We believe that cash on hand, cash generated from operating activities, and cash available under our Credit Facility will be sufficient to fund capital expenditures, operating expenses and other operating cash requirements associated with future growth. Significant cash payments were made during 2011 that occur on an infrequent basis, such as share repurchases and acquisition-related consideration. Cash flows in 2011 were also negatively impacted by capital expenditures related to our Ethernet conversion project and decreasing Core Managed Services ARPU. In 2012 we have begun reducing our transaction focused sales force in order to reinvest in teams focused on delivering services to technology-dependent customers, resulting in an estimated \$1.0 million in severance and other exit activity costs incurred during the first quarter. We anticipate that these reductions in personnel will result in increased Free Cash Flow in 2012.

Near-term cash requirements to settle acquisition-related contingent consideration is likely to necessitate funding beyond our cash on hand and cash flow from operations, therefore requiring us to temporarily draw against our Credit Facility. Further, while we do not anticipate a need for additional access to capital or new financing aside from our Credit Facility in the near term, we monitor the capital markets and may access those markets if our business prospects or plans change resulting in a need for additional capital, or if additional capital required can be obtained on favorable terms.

Commitments. The following table summarizes our commitments as of December 31, 2011:

	Payments Due by Period (Dollars in thousands)						
		Less than 1			More than 5		
Contractual Obligations	Total	Year	1 to 3 Years	3 to 5 years	Years		
Operating lease obligations (1)	\$46,894	\$ 10,766	\$ 19,644	\$ 12,486	\$ 3,998		
Purchase commitments (2)	13,188	7,223	5,965	_	_		
Contingent consideration liability (3)	4,950	4,950	_	_	_		
Anticipated interest payments (4)	1,543	300	600	600	43		
Total	\$66,575	\$ 23,239	\$ 26,209	\$ 13,086	\$ 4,041		

- (1) We lease office space in several U.S. locations. Operating lease amounts include future minimum lease payments under all our non-cancelable operating leases with an initial term in excess of one year.
- (2) Purchase commitments represent an estimate of open purchase orders and contractual obligations in the ordinary course of business for which we have not received the goods or services as well as minimum lease agreements for customer circuits from ILECs.
- (3) Represents the contingent consideration liability related to the acquisitions of MaximumASP and Aretta (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements)
- (4) Anticipated interest payments primarily represent commitment fees related to our Credit Facility.

We are required under certain contractual obligations to maintain letters of credit. As of December 31, 2011, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling \$1.3 million, which expire at various dates through May 2018.

Revolving Line of Credit

We are party to a credit agreement with Bank of America which provides for a \$75.0 million secured revolving line of credit (or "Credit Facility") that is secured by all of the assets of the Company. As of December 31, 2011, \$1.3 million of the Credit Facility was utilized for letters of credit, and we had \$73.7 million in remaining availability. The terms of the credit agreement were amended on July 2, 2007, February 24, 2009, March 3, 2010, February 22, 2011 and May 4, 2011.

On February 22, 2011, we entered into the fourth amendment of the credit agreement with Bank of America. The amendment increases the Credit Facility from \$40.0 million to \$75.0 million and extends the term to February 22, 2016. The amendment also makes certain modifications to the interest and fees, including the applicable margins based on redefined tiers, as well as the commitment fee. The amendment also modifies certain financial covenants. The amendment retains substantially all other stipulations of the original credit agreement. We also entered into the fifth amendment to our credit agreement on May 4, 2011 to allow for up to \$50.0 million of common share repurchases during the term of the credit agreement. The amendment also modified certain financial covenants. No other significant modifications of terms, or changes to our available borrowing capacity were made under the amendment.

The following description of the Credit Facility briefly summarizes the terms and conditions that are material to us.

General. The Credit Facility is available to finance working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes. Within the Credit Facility we have access to a cash management line of credit for up to \$5.0 million for cash management purposes.

Interest and Fees. The interest rates applicable to loans under the Credit Facility are floating interest rates that, at our option, will equal a London Interbank Offered Rate (or "LIBO rate") or an alternate base rate plus, in each case, an applicable margin. The current base rate is a fluctuating interest rate equal to the higher of (a) the prime rate of interest per annum publicly announced from time to time by Bank of America, as administrative agent, as its prime rate in effect at its principal office in New York City; (b) the overnight federal funds rate plus 0.50%; and (c) the Eurodollar base rate plus 1.0%. The interest periods of the Eurodollar loans are one, two, three or six months, at our option. The amended applicable margins for LIBO rate loans or alternate base rate loans are 1.75% and 0.75%, respectively. In addition, we are required to pay to Bank of America a commitment fee for unused commitments at a per annum rate of 0.40%.

Security. The Credit Facility is secured by all assets of Cbeyond Communications, LLC (or "LLC") and is guaranteed by Cbeyond, Inc. (the Parent). All assets of the consolidated entity reside with the LLC entity. In addition, Cbeyond, Inc. has no operations other than those conducted by LLC. Accordingly, all income and cash flows from operations are generated by and belong to LLC and all assets appearing on the consolidated financial statements secure the Credit Facility. In addition, the credit agreement contains certain restrictive covenants that effectively prohibit us from paying cash dividends.

Covenants and Other Matters. The Credit Facility requires us to comply with certain financial covenants, including minimum consolidated Adjusted EBITDA, minimum leverage ratio, as determined by our debt divided by Adjusted EBITDA, and maximum capital expenditures. The credit agreement also contains certain customary negative covenants, representations and warranties, affirmative covenants, notice provisions, indemnification and events of default, including change of control, cross-defaults to other debt and judgment defaults. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 there were no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility and we were in compliance with all applicable covenants.

As of December 31, 2010, \$1.3 million of the Credit Facility was utilized for letters of credit, and we had \$38.7 million in remaining availability.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future material effect on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP, which require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We believe that of our significant accounting policies, which are described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included herein, those discussed below involved a higher degree of judgment and complexity and are therefore considered critical. While we have used our best estimates based on the facts and circumstances available to us at the time, different estimates reasonably could have been used in the current period, or changes in the accounting estimates that we used are reasonably likely to occur from period to period which may have a material impact on the presentation

of our financial condition and results of operations. Although we believe that our estimates, assumptions and judgments are reasonable, they are based upon information presently available. Actual results may differ significantly from these estimates under different assumptions, judgments or conditions.

Revenue Recognition. Our marketing promotions include various rebates and customer reimbursements that fall under the scope of ASC 605-25, Multiple Arrangements, and ASC 605-50, Customer Payments/Incentive s. In accordance with these pronouncements, we record these promotions as a reduction in revenue when earned by the customer. When these promotions are earned over time, we ratably allocate the cost of honoring the promotions over the underlying promotion period as a reduction in revenue. ASC 605-50 also requires that measurement of the obligation should be based on the estimated number of customers that will ultimately earn and claim the promotion. Accordingly, we recognize the benefit of estimated breakage on customer promotions when such amounts are reasonably estimable. Over time, these breakage estimates become more refined and become less sensitive to volatility.

Software Development. We capitalize the salaries and payroll-related costs of employees and consultants who devote time to the development of certain internal-use software projects. We monitor software development projects to ensure that only those costs relating to development activities, including; software design and configuration, coding, installation, testing, and parallel processing are capitalized. Determining the phase of software development or enhancement that is eligible for capitalization requires judgment, which may affect the amount and timing of both the related capitalization and subsequent depreciation. If a project constitutes an enhancement to previously developed software, we assess whether the enhancement is significant and creates additional functionality to the software, thus resulting in capitalization. All other software development costs are expensed as incurred. We amortize capitalized software development costs over estimated useful lives of the software.

Goodwill. Goodwill, which consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired, is evaluated for impairment on an annual basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred. We have chosen October 1 as our annual impairment test date. The goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units, assignment of assets and liabilities to reporting units, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and determination of the fair value of each reporting unit. We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level, which we have determined to be our operating segments. When evaluating goodwill for impairment, we first compare the book value of the reporting unit to its estimated fair value. If the fair value is determined to be less than book value, a second step is performed to compute the amount of impairment. We estimate fair value of the applicable reporting unit or units using a combination of discounted cash flow and market multiple methodologies. This represents a level 3 fair value measurement as defined under ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, since the inputs are not readily observable in the marketplace. We allocate goodwill to reporting units based on the reporting unit expected to benefit from the combination.

We have assigned all of our goodwill to our Cloud Services reporting unit. The review for impairment is based, in part, on a discounted cash flow approach, which requires that we estimate future net cash flows, the timing of these cash flows and a discount rate (based upon a weighted average cost of capital). We discounted the future net cash flows using a weighted average cost of capital of 25.0%. We also assessed fair value using alternative valuation methods, including multiples of Adjusted EBITDA and revenue.

As of October 1, 2011, we completed our first annual impairment test of goodwill and concluded that our goodwill was not impaired as of that date and we believe that no events have occurred subsequent to that date that would impact our analysis. As of October 1, 2011, the estimated fair value exceeded its carrying value by more than 10%. Should events occur that would cause the fair value to decline below its carrying value, we may be required to record a non-cash charge to earnings during the period in which the impairment is determined.

There are many assumptions and estimates used that directly impact the results of impairment testing, including an estimate of future expected revenue, earnings and cash flows, and discount rates applied to such expected cash flows in order to estimate fair value. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the estimated fair value of an asset.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We have established an allowance for doubtful accounts through charges to selling, general and administrative expenses. The allowance is established based upon the amount we ultimately expect to collect from customers and is estimated based on a number of factors, including a specific customer's ability to meet its financial obligations to us, as well as general factors, such as the length of time the receivables are past due, historical collection experience and the general economic environment. Customer accounts are typically written off against the allowance approximately sixty to ninety days after disconnection of the customers' service, when our direct collection efforts cease. Generally, customer accounts are considered delinquent and the service disconnection process begins when they are forty-five days in arrears. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, or if economic conditions worsened, additional allowances may be required in the future, which could have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements. If we made different judgments or utilized different estimates for any period, material differences in the amount and timing of our expenses could result.

Share-Based Compensation. In accordance with ASC 718, Stock Compensation, we account for shared-based compensation expense using the fair value recognition provisions of ASC 718. Share-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award as calculated by the lattice binomial option-pricing model and is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, after estimating the effect of forfeitures. Option valuation models involve input assumptions that are subjective, and hence, may result in an option value that is not equal to that of the fair value observed in a market transaction between a willing buyer and willing seller. Additionally, estimated forfeiture rates are based on historical data, and may not be indicative of future forfeiture behavior.

Valuation Allowances for Deferred Tax Assets. We provide for the effect of income taxes on our financial position and results of operations in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under this accounting pronouncement, income tax expense is recognized for the amount of income taxes payable or refundable for the current year and for the change in net deferred tax assets or liabilities resulting from events that are recorded for financial reporting purposes in a different reporting period than recorded in the tax return. We made assumptions, judgments and estimates to determine our current provision for income taxes and also our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance to be recorded against our net deferred tax assets.

Our judgments, assumptions and estimates relative to the current provision for income tax take into account current tax laws, our interpretation of current tax laws and allowable deductions. Changes in tax law or our interpretation of tax laws could materially impact the amounts provided for income taxes in our consolidated financial position and consolidated results of operations. Our assumptions, judgments and estimates relative to the value of our net deferred tax asset take into account predictions of the amount and category of future taxable income. Actual consolidated operating results and the underlying amount and category of income or loss in future years could render our current assumptions, judgments and estimates of recoverable net deferred taxes inaccurate, thus materially impacting our consolidated financial position and consolidated results of operations.

Our valuation allowance for our net deferred tax asset is designed to take into account the uncertainty surrounding the realization of our net operating losses and our other deferred tax assets.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

For information about recently issued accounting standards, refer to Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2011, the majority of our cash is held in operating bank accounts. The impact on our future interest income of future changes in investment yields will depend largely on our total investments. Additionally in the near term we may draw on our Credit Facility, which may increase our sensitivity to interest rate risk.

Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm On Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries' (the "Company") internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011 of the Company, and our report dated March 7, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia March 7, 2012

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm On the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 7, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia March 7, 2012

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Amounts in thousands, except par value amounts)

	A	As of
	December 31,	December 31,
	2011	2010
ASSETS		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 8,521	\$ 26,373
Accounts receivable, gross	27,479	27,238
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts	(2,608)	(2,354)
Accounts receivable, net	24,871	24,884
Prepaid expenses	7,447	9,665
Inventory, net	1,772	2,243
Restricted cash	1,295	_
Deferred tax asset, net	450	938
Other assets	562	706
Total current assets	44,918	64,809
Property and equipment, gross	486,273	421,173
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization	(325,803)	(270,482)
Property and equipment, net	160,470	150,691
Goodwill	19,814	20,537
Intangible assets	9,609	10,397
Less: Accumulated amortization	(1,507)	(248)
Intangible assets, net	8,102	10,149
Restricted cash	_	1,295
Non-current deferred tax asset, net	4,254	8,068
Other non-current assets	3,514	2,418
Total assets	\$ 241,072	\$ 257,967
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	<u> </u>	
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 14,467	\$ 15,193
Accrued telecommunications costs	16,548	16,948
Deferred customer revenue	11,360	10,958
Other accrued liabilities	20,925	24,489
Current portion of contingent consideration	4,927	789
Total current liabilities	68,227	68,377
Other non-current liabilities	8,858	10,434
Contingent consideration	<u> </u>	6,035
Stockholders' equity:		,
Common stock, \$0.01 par value; 50,000 shares authorized; 28,913 and 29,577 shares issued and		
outstanding, respectively	289	296
Preferred stock, \$0.01 par value; 15,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding	_	_
Additional paid-in capital	311,370	299,501
Accumulated deficit	(147,672)	(126,676)
Total stockholders' equity	163,987	173,121
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 241,072	\$ 257,967

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

	For the Year Ended December 31			
	2011	2010	2009	
Revenue:				
Customer revenue	\$477,854	\$444,848	\$406,472	
Terminating access revenue	7,568	7,117	7,299	
Total revenue	485,422	451,965	413,771	
Operating expenses:				
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization of \$39,439, \$34,843 and				
\$31,838, respectively, shown separately below)	161,306	146,507	138,093	
Selling, general and administrative (exclusive of depreciation and amortization of \$30,456,				
\$24,461 and \$20,002, respectively, shown separately below)	257,740	249,082	228,506	
Depreciation and amortization	69,895	59,304	51,840	
Total operating expenses	488,941	454,893	418,439	
Operating loss	(3,519)	(2,928)	(4,668)	
Other income (expense):				
Interest income		2	28	
Interest expense	(500)	(281)	(152)	
Other income, net	1,211	1,867	498	
Loss before income taxes	(2,808)	(1,340)	(4,294)	
Income tax (expense) benefit	(5,176)	(314)	2,074	
Net loss	\$ (7,984)	\$ (1,654)	\$ (2,220)	
Net loss per common share:				
Basic	\$ (0.27)	\$ (0.06)	\$ (0.08)	
Diluted	\$ (0.27)	\$ (0.06)	\$ (0.08)	
Weighted average common shares outstanding:				
Basic	29,224	29,366	28,753	
Diluted	29,224	29,366	28,753	

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (Amounts in thousands)

	Common Stock		Additional Accumulated		Total Stockholders'
	Shares	Par Value	Paid-in Capital	Deficit	Equity
Balance at December 31, 2008	28,435	284	266,053	(122,802)	143,535
Exercise of stock options	228	2	1,235	_	1,237
Issuance of employee benefit plan stock	165	2	3,383	_	3,385
Share-based compensation from options to employees	_		7,246	_	7,246
Share-based compensation from restricted shares to employees	_	_	6,031	_	6,031
Share-based compensation for non-employees	_	_	217	_	217
Vesting of restricted shares	200	2	(2)	_	_
Common stock withheld as payment for withholding taxes upon the					
vesting of restricted shares	(55)	_	(816)	_	(816)
Tax effect of share-based payments	_	_	(10)	_	(10)
Net loss	_	_	_	(2,220)	(2,220)
Balance at December 31, 2009	28,973	\$290	\$283,337	\$ (125,022)	\$ 158,605
Exercise of stock options	233	2	2,094		2,096
Issuance of employee benefit plan stock	83	1	2,317	_	2,318
Share-based compensation from options to employees	_	_	4,236	_	4,236
Share-based compensation from restricted shares to employees	_	_	8,828	_	8,828
Share-based compensation for non-employees	_	_	289	_	289
Vesting of restricted shares	388	4	(4)	_	_
Common stock withheld as payment for withholding taxes upon the vesting of restricted shares	(100)	(1)	(1,310)	_	(1,311)
Write-off of deferred tax asset for non-deductible share-based	` ′				
compensation	_	_	(286)	_	(286)
Net loss	_	_	<u>`</u>	(1,654)	(1,654)
Balance at December 31, 2010	29,577	\$296	\$299,501	\$ (126,676)	\$ 173,121
Exercise of stock options	35	_	316	_	316
Issuance of employee benefit plan stock	153	2	2,544	_	2,546
Share-based compensation from options to employees	_	_	3,544	_	3,544
Share-based compensation from restricted shares to employees	_	_	7,504	_	7,504
Share-based compensation for non-employees	_	_	(150)	_	(150)
Vesting of restricted shares	565	6	(6)		<u>`</u>
Common stock withheld as payment for withholding taxes upon the			, í		
vesting of restricted shares	(153)	(2)	(1,883)	_	(1,885)
Shares repurchased under our publicly announced share repurchase					
program	(1,264)	(13)	_	(13,012)	(13,025)
Net loss	_	_	_	(7,984)	(7,984)
Balance at December 31, 2011	28,913	\$289	\$311,370	\$ (147,672)	\$ 163,987

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Amounts in thousands)

	For the Year Ended December 31		
	2011	2010	2009
Operating Activities:	ф. (= 00 t)	h /4 -= *	A (2.25°)
Net loss	\$ (7,984)	\$ (1,654)	\$ (2,220)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:			-1.0.0
Depreciation and amortization	69,895	59,304	51,840
Deferred taxes	4,302	(586)	(2,731)
Provision for doubtful accounts	6,540	7,459	9,053
Other non-cash income, net	(1,211)	(1,867)	(498)
Non-cash share-based compensation	14,149	15,591	15,954
Tax effect of share-based payments	_	_	10
Change in acquistion-related contingent consideration	(466)	22	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
Accounts receivable	(6,527)	(4,687)	(10,268)
Inventory	471	437	1,351
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	2,362	(1,736)	(1,053)
Other assets	(748)	641	(177)
Accounts payable	(726)	1,644	1,325
Other liabilities	(4,183)	4,581	24
Net cash provided by operating activities	75,874	79,149	62,610
Investing Activities:			
Purchases of property and equipment	(77,604)	(61,962)	(60,650)
Acquisition of MaximumASP, net of cash acquired	_	(28,317)	_
Acquisition of Aretta, net of cash acquired	_	(2,288)	_
Additional acquisition consideration	(1,180)	_	_
Increase in restricted cash	_	(52)	(79)
Net cash used in investing activities	(78,784)	(92,619)	(60,729)
Financing Activities:	,	, , ,	
Taxes paid on vested restricted shares	(1,885)	(1,311)	(816)
Financing issuance costs	(348)	(209)	
Tax effect of share-based payments	<u>`</u>		(10)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	316	2,096	1,237
Repurchase of common stock	(13,025)	_	_
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities	(14,942)	576	411
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents	(17,852)	(12,894)	2,292
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	26,373	39,267	36,975
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 8,521	\$ 26,373	\$ 39,267
Supplemental disclosure:	Ψ 0,321	<u> </u>	ψ 37,207
Interest paid	\$ 295	\$ 195	\$ 131
Income taxes paid, net of refunds	\$ 654	\$ 891	\$ 1,450
Non-cash purchases of property and equipment	\$ 634	\$ 870	\$ 1,430
Non-cash purchases of property and equipment	Φ 0/	\$ 8/0	φ 1,470

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2011

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

1. Description of Business

Cbeyond, Inc. (or "we", "our", "us" or the "Company"), a managed information technology (or "IT") and communications service provider, incorporated on March 28, 2000 in Delaware.

Our services include cloud applications such as Microsoft ® Exchange, data center infrastructure as a service, cloud private branch exchange (or "PBX") phone systems, Microsoft ® SQL Server ®, Metro Ethernet, Broadband Internet Access, Multi-Protocol Label Switching, Virtual Private Networking, mobile voice and data, information security, local and long distance voice services, administration management and professional services to migrate and manage customer environments.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Cbeyond, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany and intersegment balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (or "GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

In our December 31, 2010 consolidated financial statements, we have increased our selling, general and administrative expense by \$755 to reflect amounts previously classified as transaction costs. We reclassified these amounts in our prior year's consolidated financial statements to conform to our current year presentation.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services are provided or device delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. Revenue derived from monthly recurring charges for local voice and data services and other recurring services is billed in advance and deferred until earned. Revenues derived from services that are not included in monthly recurring charges, including long distance, excess charges over monthly rate plans, and terminating access fees from other carriers are recognized monthly as services are provided and billed in arrears.

We offer customers certain web-based services that are hosted on our technology infrastructure. Customers do not take actual license to the related software applications. We also offer cloud-based services such as virtual and physical servers and cloud PBX. The related revenue is recognized on a monthly subscription basis, or straight-line, over the respective periods in which customers use the service. Customers who elect to receive mobile service must purchase the mobile handsets directly from us. Mobile handset revenue is recognized at the time of shipment when title to the handset passes to the customer and is net of any handset discounts offered to the customer. The net handset revenue is typically less than our cost of the handsets, and we recognize this loss at the time of shipment to the customer. For contracts that involve the bundling of services, revenue is allocated to the services based on their relative selling price, subject to the requirement that revenue recognized is limited to the amounts already received from the customer that are not contingent upon the delivery of additional products or services to the customer in the future. Mobile handset revenue totaled \$1,839, \$2,677 and \$4,454, or 0.4%, 0.6%, and 1.1% of total revenues, in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

We recognize revenues and cost of revenues on a gross basis for certain taxes assessed by governmental authorities that are imposed on and concurrent with specific revenue-producing transactions between us and our customers. These taxes and surcharges primarily include universal service fund charges and totaled \$12,692, \$12,242 and \$9,963 in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

If we collect revenue for customer installation services, it is deferred along with a portion of the installation costs, up to the amount of installation revenue collected. The deferred installation revenue and deferred installation costs are recognized over the term of the customer contract.

We offer certain marketing promotions in the form of various customer rebates and reimbursements that we recognize as reductions of revenue over the period in which they are earned. We refer to unclaimed rebates and reimbursements as "breakage" and estimate future breakage rates based on historical experience. We record promotions net of estimated breakage to estimate the amount of promotions that will be earned and claimed by customers. When we lack sufficient historical experience to estimate breakage we record these promotions as a reduction to revenue at their maximum amounts. We record estimated breakage once we gain sufficient historical experience and adjust estimated breakage rates as we accumulate additional historical data. Changes in estimated breakage rates resulted in a \$1,473 unfavorable impact in 2010 and a \$473 favorable impact in 2009. Changes in estimated breakage rates did not have a significant impact in 2011.

Our customer contracts require our customers to pay termination fees if they terminate their services pre-maturely. We recognize termination fees as revenue upon collection from customers.

Accounts Receivable and the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are comprised of gross amounts invoiced to customers plus accrued revenue, which represents earned but unbilled revenue at the balance sheet date. The gross amount invoiced includes pass-through taxes and fees, which are recorded as liabilities at the time they are billed. Deferred customer revenue represents the amounts billed to customers in advance but not yet earned.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is established based upon the amount we ultimately expect to collect from customers and is estimated based on a number of factors, including customers' ability to meet their financial obligations to us, as well as general factors, such as length of time the receivables are past due, historical collection experience, customer churn rates and the general economic environment. Customer accounts are typically written off against the allowance approximately sixty to ninety days after disconnection of the customers' service, when our direct collection efforts cease. Customer accounts are generally considered delinquent and the service disconnection process begins when a customer is forty-five days in arrears.

The following table summarizes the change in our allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

	Balance at Beginning of	Bad Debt		
	Year	Expense	Less Deductions (1)	Balance at End of Year
2011	\$ 2,354	\$ 6,540	\$ (6,286)	\$ 2,608
2010	2,867	\$ 7,459	\$ (7,972)	2,354
2009	2,374	9,053	(8,560)	2,867

⁽¹⁾ Represents accounts written off during the period less recoveries of accounts previously written off.

Bad debt expense totaled 1.3%, 1.7% and 2.2%, of revenue, in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consists of bank deposits. We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when acquired to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Some vendors providing services to us require letters of credit that may be drawn in the event we cannot meet our obligations to the vendor. We are required to maintain cash or cash equivalents with the bank in order to avoid fees associated with our letters of credit, but are not legally required to do so. Historically, we have maintained cash equivalents in the form of money market funds with the bank at a dollar amount equal to the letters of credits outstanding and have not intended to use these funds within the next twelve months for any other purpose. Therefore, these funds have historically been considered restricted cash and classified as a non-current asset.

During the first quarter of 2012 we withdrew these funds. As such, we have classified such amounts as a current asset as of December 31, 2011.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of new and refurbished mobile handsets. We state our inventories at the lower of cost, using the first-in, first-out method, or market. The cost of mobile handsets is included in cost of revenue upon shipment to a customer. Shipping and handling costs incurred in conjunction with the sale of inventory are also included as an element of cost of revenue.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated, once placed in service, over estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the life of the lease or the duration of their useful life to us. Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. We pay certain equipment maintenance costs in advance under multi-year maintenance contracts, which are included in current and non-current assets, and amortize these costs to expense over the term of the maintenance contract.

Network engineering costs incurred during the development phase of our networks are capitalized as part of property and equipment and recorded as construction-in progress until the projects are completed and placed into service.

We capitalize certain internal-use software development costs. For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, we capitalized \$17,923, \$17,068 and \$12,447, respectively, associated with these software development efforts. These costs are generally amortized to expense over a period of three years depending on the useful life of the related asset.

We routinely offer certain programs to our customers whereby we will directly pay third party vendors for the costs of installing hardware necessary to provide service at the customer's location. We capitalize these costs and classify them as network equipment. During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, \$2,509, \$2,120 and \$2,954 of vendor installation program costs were capitalized as network equipment, respectively.

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the liability method, which requires us to recognize deferred income tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of recorded assets and liabilities and the expected benefits of net operating loss and credit carryforwards. Deferred income tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. We evaluate the likelihood that we will be able to utilize our deferred income tax assets and adjust our valuation allowance, if necessary.

We recognize the benefit of uncertain tax positions when the position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return is more likely than not (i.e., a likelihood of more than fifty percent) of being sustained upon examination by tax authorities. A recognized tax position is then measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, we do not have any significant unrecognized tax benefits.

We recognize interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits as components of our income tax provision. We do not have any interest and penalties accrued, as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, related to unrecognized tax benefits.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill, which consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired, is evaluated for impairment on an annual basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred. We have chosen October 1 as our annual impairment test date. The goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units, assignment of assets and liabilities to reporting units, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and determination of the fair value of each reporting unit. We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level, which we have determined to be our operating segments. When evaluating goodwill for impairment, we first compare the book value of the reporting unit to its estimated fair value. If the fair value is determined to be less than book value, a second step is performed to compute the amount of impairment. We estimate fair value of the applicable reporting unit or units using a combination of discounted cash flow and market multiple methodologies. This represents a level 3 fair value measurement as defined under ASC 820, *Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures*, since the inputs are not readily observable in the marketplace. We allocate goodwill to reporting units based on the reporting unit expected to benefit from the combination.

We have assigned all of our goodwill to our Cloud Services reporting unit. The review for impairment is based, in part, on a discounted cash flow approach, which requires that we estimate future net cash flows, the timing of these cash flows and a discount rate (based upon a weighted average cost of capital). We discounted the future net cash flows using a weighted average cost of capital of 25.0%. We also assessed fair value using alternative valuation methods, including multiples of Adjusted EBITDA and revenue.

Intangible assets, including developed technology, in-process development, customer relationships, non-compete agreements and trade names arising principally from acquisitions, are recorded at cost and then amortized to operating expense over their estimated useful lives.

Impairment and Other Losses on Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate our long-lived assets used in operations (primarily property and equipment) and intangible assets subject to amortization when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

impaired. If our review indicates that the carrying value of an asset will not be recoverable, based on a comparison of the carrying value of the asset to the net undiscounted future cash flows, the impairment will be measured by comparing the carrying value of the asset to the fair value. Fair value will be determined based on quoted market values, discounted cash flows or appraisals. Our review is at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets.

We occasionally replace equipment and software due to obsolescence and upgrade before the end of its originally estimated useful life and incur losses on the remaining net book value. In addition, we incur losses on the remaining net book value of our equipment that we are unable to recover from former customers. This equipment resides at customer locations to enable connection to our telecommunications network. These losses are recorded as additional depreciation and amortization expense in cost of revenue and totaled \$3,394, \$2,667 and \$2,235 for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Marketing Costs

We expense marketing costs, including advertising, as these costs are incurred. Such costs amounted to approximately \$2,739, \$3,440 and \$2,955 during 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist of trade accounts receivable, which are generally unsecured, and cash and cash equivalents. Our risk is mitigated by our accounts receivable being diversified among a large number of customers with relatively low average balances segregated by both geography and industry type. Our revenues and receivables are primarily concentrated among small business customers and geographically in the cities in which we operate our Core Managed Services.

Our cash and cash equivalents are concentrated in operating bank accounts. We believe these investments limit the risk of loss of principal.

Fair Value

The carrying amount reflected in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable equals or approximates their respective fair values due to their short maturities. The contingent consideration liability is also recorded at fair value.

Contingencies

We accrue for contingent obligations, including estimated legal costs, when the obligation is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable. As facts concerning contingencies become known, we reassess our position and make appropriate adjustments to the financial statements.

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense straight-line, less the effect of estimated forfeitures, over the period in which the entire grant vests.

Share Repurchases

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we repurchased 1,264 shares of our common stock for \$13,025 under the \$15,000 repurchase program authorized by our Board of Directors in May 2011. As of the date of this

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

filing, we have repurchased no additional shares of our common stock subsequent to December 31, 2011. Repurchased shares are retired and no longer issued and outstanding, but remain authorized shares.

3. Earnings per Share

Basic and Diluted Net (Loss) Income per Share

We calculate basic (loss) income per share by dividing net (loss) income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. Our diluted net (loss) income per share is calculated in a similar manner, but includes the effect of dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during the year. To the extent any common equivalent shares from stock options and other common stock equivalents are anti-dilutive, they are excluded from the computation of dilutive (loss) income per share. We were in a net loss position for the year ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, resulting in no difference between basic loss per share and diluted loss per share.

The following table summarizes our basic and diluted (loss) income per share calculations (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2011	2010	2009
Net (loss) income	\$(7,984)	\$(1,654)	\$ (2,220)
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding	29,224	29,366	28,753
Effect of dilutive securities	<u></u> _		
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding	29,224	29,366	28,753
Basic (loss) income per common share	\$ (0.27)	\$ (0.06)	\$ (0.08)
Diluted (loss) income per common share	\$ (0.27)	\$ (0.06)	\$ (0.08)

Securities that were not included in the diluted net (loss) income per share calculations because they were anti-dilutive, inclusive of unexercised stock options and unvested restricted stock (see Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements), are as follows (in thousands):

		Year Ended December 31,		
		2011	2010	2009
Anti-dilutive shares	`	.135	5.220	4.985

4. Accounting Standards

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (or "FASB") approved for issuance Accounting Standard Update (or "ASU") 2009-13, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables (currently within the scope of Accounting Standards Codification (or "ASC") Subtopic 605-25). This update provides principles for allocating sales consideration among multiple-element revenue arrangements with an entity's customers, allowing more flexibility in identifying and accounting for separate deliverables under an arrangement. The update introduces an estimated selling price method for valuing the elements of a bundled arrangement if vendor-specific objective evidence or third-party evidence of selling price is not available and significantly expands related disclosure requirements. We adopted ASU 2009-13 on January 1, 2011 on a prospective basis, and the adoption did not have any effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In September 2011, FASB approved for issuance ASU 2011-08, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (ASC 350). This update allows an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

perform the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test. Under these amendments, an entity would not be required to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit unless the entity determines, based on a qualitative assessment, that it is more likely than not that its fair value is less than its carrying amount. The implementation of this guidance did not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2011 as we chose to perform the quantitative annual goodwill impairment test on October 1, 2011.

5. Acquisitions

On November 3, 2010, we acquired substantially all of the net assets of privately-held MaximumASP, LLC, MaximumCOLO, LLC, and Maximum Holdings, LLC (collectively known as "MaximumASP"). MaximumASP is a cloud server and dedicated hosting provider that delivers its services, including managed virtual servers and physical servers, over the Internet to small business customers throughout the world. On October 29, 2010, we acquired 100% of the outstanding voting stock of privately-held Aretta Communications, Inc. (or "Aretta"). Aretta offers a cloud server-based PBX solution to small businesses throughout the world. Our purchase of MaximumASP and Aretta expands our entry into the high growth cloud services market and allows the expansion of our product portfolio of IT services into our small mid-sized business customer base. It also enables us to serve a broad geographic opportunity outside our existing 14-city footprint. As a result of these acquisitions, we launched the Cloud Services segment in late 2010.

The acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred to the shareholders (or "sellers") of MaximumASP totaled approximately \$34,031, which consisted of cash consideration of \$28,791, exclusive of \$94 of cash acquired, and inclusive of \$28,411 paid on the date of closing, \$380 paid in February 2011, and contingent consideration of \$5,240. During the second quarter of 2011, we adjusted the acquisition-date estimated fair value for the contingent consideration recognized for MaximumASP. The effect of this revision was a \$631 reduction to the contingent consideration liability and goodwill. We also amended the asset purchase agreement with MaximumASP to clarify certain terms of the agreement. Among other things, the amendment revised the 2011 earnout revenue achievement range of \$10,800 to \$11,400 to a range of \$13,000 to \$16,000. This range includes certain revenue components that were not considered in the original agreement. The amendment did not alter the total eligible contingent consideration to the sellers of MaximumASP of \$5,400, nor did it alter the contingent consideration payment date of March 31, 2012. The effect of this amendment on our financial statements was not significant. Based on the revenue level that was achieved in 2011, we are required to pay the sellers \$4,150 by March 31, 2012 under the contingent consideration arrangement.

The acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred to the sellers of Aretta totaled approximately \$4,027, which consisted of cash consideration of \$2,465, exclusive of \$177 of cash acquired, and contingent consideration of \$1,562. During the second and fourth quarters of 2011, we made cash payments of \$400 and \$400, respectively, to the former shareholders of Aretta upon achievement of product development milestones. Based on the revenue level that was achieved in 2011, we are required to pay the sellers \$800 by March 31, 2012 under the contingent consideration arrangement.

We record the contingent consideration liability at estimated fair value. The fair value of the contingent consideration is estimated by applying the income approach and is based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market, representing a level three measurement (as defined under ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures). Key assumptions include the discount rate representative of the time value of money for the period to the settlement date, and the probability-adjusted likelihood of milestone achievement and revenue achievement in calendar year 2011, the period in which the contingent consideration is measured. In addition, certain sellers of MaximumASP and Aretta became employees of Cbeyond, Inc. upon acquisition, and hence the total contingent consideration liability is payable to current and former employees who previously worked for these acquired entities.

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

During the third quarter of 2011, we finalized the measurement and allocation of the total consideration of identifiable assets and liabilities. The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

MaximumASP	Aretta	Total
\$ 179	\$ 183	\$ 362
9,803	122	9,925
8,200	2,197	10,397
18,182	2,502	20,684
1,388	150	1,538
580	33	613
	920	920
1,968	1,103	3,071
16,214	1,399	17,613
17,186	2,628	19,814
\$ 33,400	\$4,027	\$37,427
	\$ 179 9,803 8,200 18,182 1,388 580 — 1,968 16,214 17,186	\$ 179 \$ 183 9,803 122 8,200 2,197 18,182 2,502 1,388 150 580 33 — 920 1,968 1,103 16,214 1,399 17,186 2,628

The following table summarizes changes to our goodwill and total contingent consideration liability (current and non-current portions):

		Consideration
	Goodwill	Liability
December 31, 2009	\$ —	\$ —
Acquisition date purchase price allocation	20,537	(6,802)
Fair value adjustments	<u> </u>	(22)
December 31, 2010	\$20,537	\$ (6,824)
Acquisition date related purchase adjustments		
Contingent consideration	(631)	631
Income tax-related adjustment	(92)	_
Contingent consideration paid	_	800
Fair value adjustments (a)		466
December 31, 2011	\$19,814	\$ (4,927)

⁽a) Fair value adjustments primarily relate to the decrease in the revenue level that was achieved under the MaximumASP contingent consideration arrangement and is recognized through selling, general and administrative costs.

Goodwill has been assigned to our Cloud Services reporting unit, and is primarily attributable to expected synergies unique to our sales and marketing channels that we believe provides us a competitive advantage in the market we serve. All the goodwill related to the MaximumASP acquisition is deductible for income tax purposes. For Aretta, none of the goodwill is deductible for income tax purposes.

Pro forma Reporting and Transaction Costs

The results of operations of both MaximumASP and Aretta have been included in our consolidated results of operations from their respective acquisition dates. Our results include \$1,791 of revenue and \$65 of net income for the year ended December 31, 2010 from these acquisitions.

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The following represents our proforma consolidated revenue and net loss for the years ending December 31, 2010 and 2009 as if MaximumASP and Aretta had been acquired as of January 1, 2010 and 2009, respectively. These amounts include pre-acquisition results of MaximumASP and Aretta and reflect additional depreciation and amortization, and consequential tax effects, as if the fair value of the acquired assets had been recognized at the beginning of each respective period (unaudited).

	Year	ended
	December 31,	December 31,
	2010	2009
Revenue	\$ 461,991	\$ 424,493
Net loss	\$ (2,644)	\$ (3,561)

All transaction costs associated with the acquisitions have been charged to selling, general and administrative expense as incurred. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we incurred \$154 and \$755 in total transaction-related costs, respectively.

6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table provides information regarding our amortizable intangible assets as of December 31, 2011.

			December 31, 2011			December 31, 2010	
	Useful Life	Gross Carrying	Accumulated	Net Carrying	Gross Carrying	Accumulated	Net Carrying
Amortizable intangible assets	Range (years)	Amount	Amortization	Amount	Amount	Amortization	Amount
Customer relationships	10	7,770	(906)	6,864	7,770	(130)	7,640
In-process development (a)	_	_	_	_	788	_	788
Developed technology	3-4	1,572	(478)	1,094	1,572	(101)	1,471
Trade name	2-3	204	(86)	118	204	(12)	192
Non-competes	2	63	(37)	26	63	(5)	58
Total		\$ 9,609	\$ (1,507)	\$ 8,102	\$10,397	\$ (248)	\$10,149

⁽a) Development completed and placed into service in 2011.

Customer relationships are derived from the MaximumASP acquisition and were assigned based on the valuation of single and multi-year customer contracts that are subject to extension, renewal, or termination. In estimating the fair value of these assets, we have assumed renewal of these contracts at a rate consistent with MaximumASP's historical experience.

Amortization expense on intangible assets was \$1,259 for the year ended December 31, 2011. Intangible assets are recorded at cost and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated lives. The weighted-average useful life of all the identifiable intangible assets is 8.8 years. As of December 31, 2011, amortization expense on intangible assets for the next five years is expected to be as follows:

Year ending December 31,	<u>Amount</u>
2012	\$1,284
2013	1,223
2014	1,063
2015	777
2016	777

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

As of October 1, 2011, we completed our first annual impairment test of goodwill and concluded that our goodwill was not impaired as of that date and we believe that no events have occurred subsequent to that date that would impact our analysis. As of October 1, 2011, the estimated fair value exceeded its carrying value by more than 10%. Should events occur that would cause the fair value to decline below its carrying value, we may be required to record a non-cash charge to earnings during the period in which the impairment is determined.

7. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of:

		Year Ended December 31,		
	Useful Lives (In years)	2011	2010	
Land	(in years)	\$ 675	\$ 675	
Building	25	5,500	5,500	
IRU (a)	20	1,625	1,625	
Network equipment	2–7	275,349	236,937	
Leasehold improvements	3-10	28,068	27,585	
Computers and software	2-5	148,721	121,309	
Furniture and fixtures	5-7	7,908	7,354	
Construction-in progress		18,427	20,188	
Property and equipment, gross		486,273	421,173	
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization		(325,803)	(270,482)	
Property and equipment, net		\$ 160,470	\$ 150,691	

⁽a) We purchase network capacity under long-term contracts, typically 20 years, for the indefeasible right of use (or "IRU") of fiber network infrastructure owned by others.

As a result of our acquisitions and our ongoing Ethernet conversion project being implemented throughout our markets, we did not expand our operations into any additional geographic markets during 2011. As such we recorded the accelerated depreciation of previously capitalized assets related to the build-out of collocations in a planned new market prior to our decision in mid- December 2010 not to expand into that market in 2011. This resulted in \$585 of additional depreciation expense during the year ended December 31, 2010.

8. Other Accrued Liabilities

	December 31,	December 31,
	2011	2010
Accrued bonus	\$ 8,918	\$ 9,948
Accrued other compensation and benefits	1,962	2,251
Accrued sales taxes	_	1,235
Accrued other taxes	4,404	4,309
Accrued promotions	1,155	1,325
Deferred rent	1,991	1,845
Other accrued expenses	2,495	3,576
Other accrued liabilities	\$ 20,925	\$ 24,489
Non-current portion of deferred rent	\$ 7,348	\$ 9,075
Non-current other accrued expenses	1,510	1,359
Other non-current liabilities	\$ 8,858	\$ 10,434

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Accrued sales tax as of December 31, 2010 represents the remaining liabilities related to the dissolution of our captive lease subsidiaries. All statutory periods expired as of March 31, 2011 (see Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements).

9. Revolving Line of Credit

We are party to a credit agreement with Bank of America, which provides for a \$75,000 secured revolving line of credit (or "Credit Facility") that is secured by all of the assets of the Company. As of December 31, 2011, \$1,345 of the Credit Facility was utilized for letters of credit, and we had \$73,655 in remaining availability. The terms of the credit agreement were amended on July 2, 2007, February 24, 2009, March 3, 2010, February 22, 2011 and May 4, 2011.

On February 22, 2011 we entered into the fourth amendment of the credit agreement with Bank of America. The amendment increases the Credit Facility from \$40,000 to \$75,000 and extends the term to February 22, 2016. The amendment also makes certain modifications to the interest and fees, including the applicable margins based on redefined tiers, as well as the commitment fee. The amendment also modifies certain financial covenants. The amendment retains substantially all other stipulations of the original credit agreement. We also entered into the fifth amendment to our credit agreement on May 4, 2011 to allow for up to \$50,000 of common share repurchases during the term of the credit agreement. The amendment also modified certain financial covenants. No other significant modifications of terms, or changes to our available borrowing capacity were made under the amendment.

Our Credit Facility is available to finance working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes. Within the Credit Facility we have access to a cash management line of credit for up to \$5.0 million for cash management purposes.

The interest rates applicable to loans under the Credit Facility are floating interest rates that, at our option, will equal a London Interbank Offered Rate (or "LIBO rate") or an alternate base rate plus, in each case, an applicable margin. The current base rate is a fluctuating interest rate equal to the higher of (a) the prime rate of interest per annum publicly announced from time to time by Bank of America, as administrative agent, as its prime rate in effect at its principal office in New York City; (b) the overnight federal funds rate plus 0.50%; and (c) the Eurodollar base rate plus 1.0%. The interest periods of the Eurodollar loans are one, two, three or six months, at our option. The amended applicable margins for LIBO rate loans or alternate base rate loans are 1.75% and 0.75%, respectively. In addition, we are required to pay to Bank of America a commitment fee for unused commitments at a per annum rate of 0.40%.

The Credit Facility requires us to comply with certain financial covenants; including minimum consolidated Adjusted EBITDA, minimum leverage ratio, as determined by our debt divided by Adjusted EBITDA, and maximum capital expenditures. The credit agreement also contains certain customary negative covenants, representations and warranties, affirmative covenants, notice provisions, indemnification and events of default, including change of control, cross-defaults to other debt and judgment defaults. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 there were no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility and we were in compliance with all applicable covenants.

The Credit Facility is secured by all assets of Cbeyond Communications, LLC (or "LLC") and is guaranteed by Cbeyond, Inc. (the Parent). All assets of the consolidated entity reside with the LLC entity. In addition, Cbeyond, Inc. has no operations other than those conducted by LLC. Accordingly, all income and cash flows

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

from operations are generated by and belong to LLC and all assets appearing on the consolidated financial statements secure the Credit Facility. In addition, the credit agreement contains certain restrictive covenants that effectively prohibit us from paying cash dividends.

As of December 31, 2010, \$1,295 of the Credit Facility was utilized for letters of credit, and we had \$38,705 in remaining availability.

10. Income Taxes

In 2011, we generated net operating loss carryforwards, which will offset future taxable income. Current income taxes recognized relate primarily to income taxes in states with gross receipts based taxes, which are due regardless of profit levels. In 2010 and 2009, we utilized net operating loss carryforwards to offset the majority of our taxable income. Current income taxes recognized in 2010 and 2009 related primarily to Alternative Minimum Tax (or "AMT") or to states that either do not have net operating loss carryforwards or that have taxing jurisdictions that do not consider net operating losses.

The current and deferred income tax provision (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are as follows.

	2011	2010	2009
Current			
Federal	\$ —	\$ 66	\$ 69
State	761	834	588
Total current	761	900	657
Deferred			
Federal	904	377	(1,412)
State	(126)	(351)	(741)
Change in valuation allowance	3,637	(612)	(578)
Total deferred	4,415	(586)	(2,731)
Income tax provision (benefit)	\$5,176	\$ 314	\$(2,074)

Due to our taxable loss in 2011, no current provision for federal income taxes was recognized. The current provision for federal income taxes during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 consisted of AMT because we could only offset 90% of AMT taxable income with AMT net operating losses in those years. AMT payments result in a credit that will be used to offset regular income taxes due in future periods, when and if we pay regular income tax. We also recorded current state tax expense in 2011, 2010 and 2009 primarily as a result of the Texas Margin Tax that totaled \$660, \$673 and \$694 in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. This tax is not dependent upon levels of pre-tax income and has a significant influence on our effective tax rate.

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, certain restricted shares vested where the market price on the vesting date was lower than the market price on the date the restricted shares were originally granted. This resulted in realizing a lower actual tax deduction than was deducted for financial reporting purposes. As a result, we wrote off deferred tax assets of \$1,883 relating to the share-based compensation that had been recognized for these restricted shares for financial reporting purposes, with the entire charge going to income tax expense as the Company's accumulated additional-paid-in-capital pool was reduced to zero in 2010. In addition, a portion of our valuation allowance against other deferred tax assets was no longer required and was reduced as an income tax benefit. The following table summarizes the significant differences between the U.S. federal statutory tax rate (35%) and our effective tax rate for financial statement purposes for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

	2011	2010	2009
Federal income tax provision at statutory rate	\$ (983)	\$(469)	\$(1,503)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit	394	380	236
Nondeductible expenses	265	279	150
Nondeductible share-based compensation costs	1,883	808	
Other	(20)	(3)	(173)
State tax credits generated in prior year, net of federal tax benefit	_	(69)	(206)
Change in valuation allowance	3,637	(612)	(578)
Income tax provision (benefit)	\$5,176	\$ 314	<u>\$(2,074)</u>

The income tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective income tax bases give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

	2011	2010
Deferred tax assets:		
Net operating loss (federal and state)	\$ 34,493	\$ 33,745
Deferred rent	3,554	4,135
Allowance for doubtful accounts	993	896
Accrued telecommunication liabilities	452	620
Accrued liabilities	1,791	1,820
Share-based compensation expense	12,013	12,118
Other	3,846	3,177
Gross deferred tax assets	57,142	56,511
Deferred tax liabilities:		
Property and equipment	13,940	12,810
Intangible assets	481	720
Goodwill	371	_
Other	798	763
Gross deferred tax liabilities	15,590	14,293
Net deferred tax assets	41,552	42,218
Valuation allowance	(36,848)	(33,212)
Net deferred tax assets	4,704	9,006
Less non-current net deferred tax assets	(4,254)	(8,068)
Current net deferred tax assets	\$ 450	\$ 938

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

At December 31, 2011, we have federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately \$120,962 and state net operating loss carryforwards of \$106,015, which begin expiring in 2021. The federal net operating loss carryforward consists of net operating losses unrelated to share-based compensation of \$84,191 (with a corresponding deferred tax asset of \$29,467) and net operating losses related to share-based compensation of \$36,771. We follow the "with and without approach", including indirect effects, which considers the impact of share-based compensation deductions last when computing the tax benefits of share-based compensation. Under this approach, any regular income tax benefit derived from net operating losses related to share-based compensation is reflected as additional paid-in-capital at the time such benefit is realized.

Our net deferred tax assets, before valuation allowance, totaled approximately \$41,552 and \$42,218 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and primarily relate to net operating loss carryforwards. We maintain a valuation allowance, which reduces our deferred income tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. As of December 31, 2011, our valuation allowance was \$36,848. In evaluating our ability to realize our deferred income tax assets we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including our historical operating results, ongoing tax planning and forecasts of future taxable income. Our evaluation led us to increase our valuation allowance by \$4,200 in the fourth quarter of 2011, resulting in additional income tax expense and a decrease in basic and diluted earnings per share of \$0.14. In order to realize the benefits of the deferred tax assets recognized at December 31, 2011, we will need to generate approximately \$13,335 of taxable income in the foreseeable future, which, based on current projected performance, management expects to be able to achieve. If future results are less favorable than our projections or if the projected benefits of our investments fall short of our expectations, we may have to increase our allowance against our net deferred tax asset with a corresponding increase to income tax expense. If we generate taxable income in excess of projections, the result would be a reduction of the allowance against our net deferred tax asset and a corresponding benefit to income tax expense.

We continually evaluate whether we have any limitations on our ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 due to changes in ownership and periodically engage third party experts to perform a formal study. The most recent formal study was updated through late 2011 with the conclusion that there were ownership changes sufficient to cause an annual limitation on the use of net operating losses. However, the limitation significantly exceeds our projected annual taxable income projections, so we believe the current limitation will have no effect on the ultimate realization of the available net operating losses. However, utilization of these net operating loss carryforwards may be limited in future years if significant ownership changes were to occur subsequent to our most recent study.

The tax years 2008 to 2011, according to statute, remain open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which we are subject. Due to the use of net operating losses generated in tax years prior to the statutory three-year limit, earlier tax years of 2001 to 2007 may also be subject to examination.

11. Employee Benefit Plan

401(k) Plan

We have a 401(k) Defined Contribution Retirement Plan (or "Plan") for the benefit of eligible employees and their beneficiaries. All regular employees are eligible to participate in the Plan on the first day of the month following 90 days of employment. The Plan provides for an employee deferral up to the dollar limit that is set by the Internal Revenue Service.

We have a commitment to contribute shares to the Plan at the end of each plan year which equates to a matching contribution value as a percentage of eligible employee compensation. We match 100% of the first 1% of eligible compensation contributed by plan participants, and up to 50% of the next 5% of eligible compensation

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

contributed. We fund our matching contribution in Company stock and the number of shares we contribute is based on the share price on the last day of the Plan year. Throughout the year, the ultimate number of shares that settles relating to our matching contribution remains variable until the December 31 settlement date. The Plan does not limit the number of shares that can be issued to settle the matching contribution. We made a matching contribution of 322 shares of Company stock in January 2012 relating to the Plan year ended December 31, 2011.

We also made contributions of 153, 83, and 165 shares of Company stock in February 2011 (for the Plan year ended December 31, 2010), January 2010 (for the Plan year ended December 31, 2009) and July 2009 (for the Plan year ended June 30, 2009), respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, we recognized \$2,556, \$2,238 and \$2,460, respectively, of share-based compensation expense relating to our matching contributions under the Plan.

Deferred Compensation Plan

We maintain a self-directed, non-qualified, unfunded deferred compensation plan that provides supplemental retirement benefits in excess of limits imposed on qualified plans by U.S. tax laws for certain executives and other highly compensated employees. Under the plan, participants may elect to defer receipt of a portion of their annual compensation. Amounts deferred under the plan are invested at the participants' discretion in various investment choices.

Our deferred compensation obligation for the plan is included on our consolidated balance sheets in other non-current liabilities. Investment earnings, administrative expenses, changes in investment values and increases or decreases in the deferred compensation liability resulting from changes in the investment values are recorded in our consolidated statements of operations. Deferred compensation plan assets are included in other non-current assets on our consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, deferred compensation plan assets totaled \$1,089 and \$901, and plan liabilities were \$1,207 and \$949, respectively.

12. Share-Based Compensation Plans

We maintain share-based compensation plans that permit the grant of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, restricted stock and stock purchase rights, collectively referred to as share-based awards. Share-based awards generally vest at a rate of 25% per year over four years or at the attainment of certain performance targets as of the determination date, although the Board of Directors may approve a different vesting period. Upon an exercise of options or a release of restricted stock, new shares are issued out of our approved stock plans. As of December 31, 2011, we had 1,023 share-based awards available for future grant. Compensation expense related to share-based awards for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 totaled \$14,149, \$15,591 and \$15,954, respectively.

Beginning in 2011, 50% of the share based awards granted to our Chief Executive Officer vest on attaining certain financial performance metrics. During 2011, the performance metrics were met and 97% of the shares awarded will vest over a three year period.

We also grant equity instruments to non-employees. All transactions in which goods or services are the consideration received for the issuance of equity instruments are accounted for based on the fair value of the equity instrument issued, which we deem more reliably measurable than the fair value of the consideration received. The measurement date of the fair value of the equity instrument issued is the date on which the counterparty's performance is complete.

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Stock Options

Options are granted at exercise prices determined by the closing price of our common stock on the grant date. Our current policy defines the grant date for options as the second day following a quarterly earnings release for previously approved standard option grants. Share-based option awards expire 10 years after the grant date.

The following table summarizes the weighted average grant date fair values and the binomial option-pricing model assumptions that were used to estimate the grant date fair value of options during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

	Years ended December 31,		31,
	2011	2010	2009
Grant date fair value	\$6.02	\$7.05	\$7.82
Assumptions:			
Expected dividend yield	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
Expected volatility	53.2%	56.3%	58.1%
Risk-free interest rate	2.7%	2.4%	1.9%
Expected multiple of share price to exercise price upon exercise	2.0	2.2	2.3
Post vest cancellation rate	1.3%	2.7%	5.7%

We evaluate the appropriateness of the underlying assumptions each time we estimate the fair value of equity instruments requiring measurement. To assist in validating our assumptions, we periodically engage consultants with relevant experience to assess and evaluate its assumptions.

The risk-free interest rate used in estimating the fair value of options is based on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon securities over the appropriate period. We also use historical data to estimate the expected multiple of share price to exercise price upon exercise, volatility and the post-vest cancellation rate of options granted.

The following table summarizes our option activity and weighted average exercise price during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 (shares in thousands):

	2011		2010		2009	
	Exercise Exercise		Exercise		Exercis	
	Options	Price	Options	Price	Options	Price
Outstanding at beginning of year	3,705	\$14.76	3,894	\$14.82	4,212	\$14.55
Granted	219	11.86	233	13.24	87	14.37
Exercised (A)	(35)	9.09	(233)	8.99	(228)	5.43
Forfeited or cancelled	(272)	20.56	(188)	21.49	(177)	20.21
Expired	(1)	13.43	(1)	13.43	_	_
Outstanding at end of year	3,616	14.20	3,705	14.76	3,894	14.82
Vested and expected to vest at end of year (B)	3,586	\$14.19	3,663	\$14.70	3,842	\$14.77

⁽A) The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was \$167, \$1,372, and \$3,090, respectively.

⁽B) As of December 31, 2011, the aggregate intrinsic value of options vested and expected to vest was \$3,082.

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The following table summarizes our options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2011 (shares in thousands):

		Outstanding			Exercisable	
	Options	Weighted Average Remaining	Weighted Average	Options	Weighted Average Remaining	Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Prices	Outstanding	Life (years)	Exercise Price	Outstanding (A)	Life (years)	Exercise Price
\$3.88	734	1.24	\$ 3.88	734	1.24	\$ 3.88
6.00 to 14.00	1,656	4.95	11.81	1,290	3.87	11.66
15.00 to 19.00	277	6.65	16.26	207	6.45	16.37
19.01 to 22.00	475	5.77	19.80	383	5.67	19.84
\$29.00 to 34.00	381	5.17	29.95	381	5.17	29.95
Over \$36.00	93	5.67	38.80	93	5.67	38.80
	3,616	4.48	\$ 14.20	3,088	3.86	\$ 14.22

⁽A) As of December 31, 2011, the aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisable was \$3,032.

As of December 31, 2011, unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to unvested stock option awards totals approximately \$2,184 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.01 years.

Restricted Shares

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, we granted 565, 894 and 589 restricted shares, respectively. On February 12, 2010, we cancelled 190 restricted shares whose vesting depended upon meeting certain minimum annual Total Adjusted EBITDA levels by 2010 and 2012 as we determined that achieving the performance criteria necessary for these awards to vest was not probable. On February 25, 2010, the affected executives were granted 160 shares of restricted stock that vest in 50% increments in February 2011 and 2012. The shares were issued at a total grant-date fair value of \$2,032. We recognized \$1,007 and \$811 of share-based compensation expense from these awards during the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

The following table summarizes our restricted share award activity during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 (shares in thousands):

	2011			2010			2009		
			eighted age Grant-			eighted age Grant-			eighted age Grant-
	Shares	Date	Fair Value	Shares	Date	Fair Value	Shares	Date	Fair Value
Outstanding at beginning of year	1,313	\$	15.53	1,126	\$	18.76	844	\$	21.78
Granted	565		13.13	894		13.33	589		15.79
Vested (A)	(564)		16.06	(388)		19.28	(200)		22.79
Cancelled	_		_	(190)		17.09	_		_
Forfeited	(128)		14.10	(129)		14.84	(107)		18.69
Outstanding at end of year	1,186	\$	14.03	1,313	\$	15.53	1,126	\$	18.76

⁽A) The fair value of restricted shares that vested during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was \$6,766, \$5,133, and \$3,021 respectively.

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

As of December 31, 2011, unrecognized shared-based compensation expense related to unvested restricted share awards outstanding totals approximately \$9,945 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.95 years.

During the first quarter of 2011, management approved a mandatory share-based compensation plan for our management team that provides for the settlement of a portion of performance-based compensation under our corporate bonus plan with shares of common stock, governed under our 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan. The portion of performance-based compensation settled in equity is 20% of the annual bonus payout for each respective member of management based on the 2011 annual corporate bonus performance criteria that are established by management and approved by the Board of Directors. We issued 98 shares of common stock under our 2011 corporate bonus plan. The number of shares granted was based on the closing share price of our stock on the date we paid the cash payout of the corporate bonus plan, which was January 31, 2012. The shares earned by the participants in this plan vest at various points in 2012. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, we recognized \$695 of share-based compensation expense under our 2011 corporate bonus plan.

13. Commitments

We have entered into various non-cancelable operating leases, with expirations through September 2020, for office space used in our operations. We also lease customer circuits from incumbent local exchange carriers (or "ILECs") under minimum agreements for volume and term commitments in order to obtain more favorable pricing on a per circuit basis. Future minimum obligations under these arrangements as of December 31, 2011 are as follows:

Operating		Anticipated Credit
	Circuit	_
Leases	Commitments	Facility Payments
\$10,766	\$ 5,340	\$ 300
10,101	4,032	300
9,543	1,933	300
8,091	_	300
4,395	_	300
3,998		43
\$46,894	\$ 11,305	\$ 1,543
	Leases \$10,766 10,101 9,543 8,091 4,395	Leases Circuit Commitments \$10,766 \$ 5,340 10,101 4,032 9,543 1,933 8,091 — 4,395 — 3,998 —

Total rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was \$9,481, \$8,374 and \$8,029, respectively. Certain real estate leases have fixed escalation clauses, holidays, and leasehold improvement allowances. Such leasehold improvement allowances were \$87, \$870 and \$1,476 during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. These allowances are capitalized as leasehold improvements, which are depreciated over the shorter of their useful lives or the lease term. The benefits of the allowances and the minimum lease payments under such operating leases are recorded on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. Our lease agreements also generally have lease renewal options that are at our discretion and range in terms. Other non-current liabilities primarily consist of the non-current portion of our deferred rent liability, and are \$8,858 and \$10,434 as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Our anticipated credit facility payments primarily represent commitment fees related to our Credit Facility (see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements). At December 31, 2011, we had outstanding letters of credit of \$1,345. These letters of credit expire at various times through May 2016 and collateralize certain of our obligations to third party vendors.

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

14. Segment Information

Our management monitors and analyzes financial results on a segment basis for reporting and management purposes. Specifically, our chief operating decision maker allocates resources to and evaluates the performance of our operating segments based, depending on which segment, on revenue, direct operating expenses, and Adjusted EBITDA (defined below). The accounting policies of our reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.

We aggregate geographic markets with similar long-term economic characteristics for segment disclosure purposes. This aggregation is consistent with the direction toward which we are increasingly moving and managing the business. Specifically, we recognize that the highest risk stage for a market is in its early stages when we are adapting our strategy and approach to accommodate a new market's unique characteristics; including the small business climate and culture, regulatory conditions, local competitors, and the quality and availability of local employees for staffing and managing the markets. Comparatively, our established markets generally require less frequent direct corporate level management involvement because we have adapted to the local market and have seasoned local management in place, which generally results in more stable operating performance. As the number of established markets has grown, our chief operating decision maker (or "CODM") now spends the majority of his time monitoring the individual performance levels of newer markets and the effectiveness of our corporate operations rather than focusing on individual established markets. As such, we have aggregated these mature markets as one reportable segment entitled "Core Managed Services Established Markets."

The markets subject to aggregation are those that we consider established because they have successfully passed through the critical start-up phase and, for the reasons mentioned previously, achieved certain operating performance levels. All other markets, our corporate operations and cloud services will continue to be presented as separate segments. Our segment disclosure will continue to include individual market data for each geographic market in addition to aggregate data for the established markets as a group. Currently, a market is considered established upon achieving positive Adjusted EBITDA for at least four consecutive fiscal quarters and otherwise sharing similar long-term economic characteristics as the other established markets. As of June 30, 2010, September 30, 2010, September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2011, the San Francisco, Detroit, Miami and Minneapolis markets, respectively, have been re-categorized to the Core Managed Services Established Market grouping due to their achievement of four consecutive fiscal quarters of positive Adjusted EBITDA and otherwise sharing long-term economic characteristics of the other established markets. We have updated our segment tables below to retroactively present Detroit, San Francisco, Miami and Minneapolis as established markets in the prior periods.

At December 31, 2011, our reportable segments were Core Managed Services Established Markets; the individual Core Managed Services Emerging Markets including the Greater Washington DC Area and Seattle and Boston; and the Cloud Services segment. In the fourth quarter of 2010 after making our acquisitions, we established the Cloud Services segment. We consider the Cloud Services segment as a reportable segment because the CODM is managing the Cloud Services segment separately in terms of resource allocation and financial performance.

The operating results and capital expenditures from our market-based segments reflect the costs of a pre-launch phase in each market in which the local network is installed and initial staffing is hired, followed by a startup phase, beginning with the launch of service operations, when customer installations begin. Sales efforts, service offerings and the prices charged to customers for services are generally consistent across operating segments. Operating expenses include costs of revenue and selling, general and administrative costs incurred directly in each market. Although network design and market operations are generally consistent across all

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

operating segments, certain costs differ among the various geographical markets. These cost differences result from different numbers of network central office collocations, prices charged by the local telephone companies for customer access circuits, prices charged by local telephone companies and other telecommunications providers for transport circuits, office rents and other costs that vary by region.

The balance of our operations is in the Corporate group, for which the operations consist of corporate executive, administrative and support functions and centralized operations, which includes network operations, customer care and provisioning. The Corporate group is treated as a separate segment consistent with the manner in which management monitors and analyzes financial results. Corporate costs are not allocated to the other segments because such costs are managed and controlled on a functional basis that spans all markets, with centralized, functional management held accountable for corporate results. Management also believes that the decision not to allocate these centralized costs provides a better evaluation of each revenue-producing geographic segment. Management does not report assets by segment since it manages assets and makes decisions on technology deployment and other investments on a company-wide rather than on a local market basis. The CODM does not use segment assets in evaluating the performance of operating segments. As a result, management does not believe that segment asset disclosure is meaningful information to investors. In addition to segment results, we use Total Adjusted EBITDA to assess the operating performance of the overall business. Because the CODM evaluates the performance of each segment on the basis of Adjusted EBITDA as the primary metric for measuring segment profitability, management believes that segment Adjusted EBITDA data should be available to investors so that investors have the same data that management employs in assessing our overall operations. The CODM also uses revenue to measure operating results and assess performance, and both revenue and Adjusted EBITDA are presented herein.

EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure commonly used by investors, financial analysts and ratings agencies. EBITDA is generally defined as net income (loss) before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. However, we use Adjusted EBITDA, also a non-GAAP financial measure, to further exclude, when applicable, non-cash share-based compensation, public offering or acquisition-related transaction costs, purchase accounting adjustments, gain or loss on asset dispositions and non-operating income or expense. On a less frequent basis, Adjusted EBITDA may exclude charges for employee severances, asset or facility impairments, and other exit activity costs associated with a management directed plan. Adjusted EBITDA is presented because this financial measure, in combination with revenue and operating expenses, is an integral part of the internal reporting system used by our CODM to assess and evaluate the performance of the business and our operating segments, both on a consolidated and on an individual basis.

The tables below present information about our operating segments:

	Yea	Year Ended December 31	
	2011	2010	2009
Revenues			
Core Managed Services Established Markets	\$452,222	\$441,115	\$412,071
Core Managed Services Emerging Markets:			
Greater Washington DC Area	9,260	6,291	1,603
Seattle (3)	8,436	2,691	97
Boston (4)	1,245	84	
Core Managed Services total emerging markets	18,941	9,066	1,700
Total Core Managed Services	471,163	450,181	413,771
Cloud Services	14,613	1,791	_
Intersegment elimination	(354)	(7)	
Total revenues	\$485,422	\$451,965	\$413,771

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

	Y	ear Ended December	31
A Harakana A Kabuma A	2011	2010	2009
Adjusted EBITDA	Φ 101 607	Ф 107 210	4.162.062
Core Managed Services Established Markets (1)	\$ 191,697	\$ 187,318	\$ 162,863
Core Managed Services Emerging Markets:	(1.201)	(4.025)	(5.247)
Greater Washington DC Area	(1,301)	(4,035)	(5,347)
Seattle (3)	(2,704)	(5,196)	(1,629)
Boston (4)	(3,716)	(2,739)	(1)
Core Managed Services total emerging markets	(7,721)	(11,970)	(6,977)
Total Core Managed Services Cloud Services	183,976	175,348	155,886
	2,214	569	(92,760)
Corporate	(106,027)	(102,982)	
Total Adjusted EBITDA (2)	\$ 80,163	\$ 72,935	\$ 63,126
Operating income (loss)			
Core Managed Services Established Markets (1)	\$ 161,783	\$ 159,129	\$ 134,776
Core Managed Services Emerging Markets:			
Greater Washington DC Area	(2,959)	(5,480)	(6,423)
Seattle (3)	(4,058)	(6,085)	(1,820)
Boston (4)	(4,332)	(2,926)	(2)
Core Managed Services total emerging markets	(11,349)	(14,491)	(8,245)
Total Core Managed Services	150,434	144,638	126,531
Cloud Services	(1,427)	(158)	_
Corporate	(152,526)	(147,408)	(131,199)
Total operating (loss) income (2)	\$ (3,519)	\$ (2,928)	\$ (4,668)
Depreciation and amortization expense			
Core Managed Services Established Markets	\$ 28,879	\$ 27,223	\$ 26,984
Core Managed Services Emerging Markets:			
Greater Washington DC Area	1,625	1,405	1,023
Seattle (3)	1,296	852	172
Boston (4)	590	175	1
Core Managed Services total emerging markets	3,511	2,432	1,196
Total Core Managed Services	32,390	29,655	28,180
Cloud Services	3,413	503	_
Corporate	34,092	29,146	23,660
Total depreciation and amortization expense	\$ 69,895	\$ 59,304	\$ 51,840

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

	Yea	Year Ended December 31		
	2011	2010	2009	
Capital expenditures				
Core Managed Services Established Markets	\$ 34,887	\$ 24,446	\$ 26,722	
Core Managed Services Emerging Markets:				
Greater Washington DC Area	1,013	923	1,253	
Seattle (3)	1,300	1,632	3,003	
Boston (4)	327	2,099	309	
Core Managed Services total emerging markets	2,640	4,654	4,565	
Total Core Managed Services	37,527	29,100	31,287	
Cloud Services	4,818	413	_	
Corporate	35,346	33,319	30,839	
Total capital expenditures	\$ 77,691	\$ 62,832	\$ 62,126	
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net loss:				
Total Adjusted EBITDA for operating segments	\$ 80,163	\$ 72,935	\$ 63,126	
Depreciation and amortization	(69,895)	(59,304)	(51,840)	
Non-cash share-based compensation	(14,149)	(15,591)	(15,954)	
MaximumASP purchase accounting adjustments (5)	516	(213)		
Transaction costs	(154)	(755)	_	
Interest income	_	2	28	
Interest expense	(500)	(281)	(152)	
Other income, net	1,211	1,867	498	
Income tax (expense) benefit	(5,176)	(314)	2,074	
Net loss	\$ (7,984)	\$ (1,654)	\$ (2,220)	

⁽¹⁾ During 2011 and 2010, we recognized a benefit of approximately \$420 and \$724, respectively to cost of revenue for telecommunication cost recoveries (see Triennial Review Remand Order discussion in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements).

⁽²⁾ During 2009, we settled an outstanding cost of revenue obligation relating to previous periods for approximately \$832 less than the recorded liability resulting in a benefit to cost of revenue across several markets.

⁽³⁾ We launched service to customers in the Seattle market in the fourth quarter of 2009.

⁽⁴⁾ We launched service to customers in the Boston market in the third quarter of 2010.

These adjustments include the effect of adjusting acquired deferred revenue and the contingent consideration to fair value. These adjustments affect period-to-period financial performance comparability in periods subsequent to the acquisition and are not indicative of changes in underlying results of operations. We may have similar adjustments in future periods if we have any new acquisitions.

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

15. Contingencies

Triennial Review Remand Order

In February 2005, the Federal Communications Commission (or "FCC") issued its Triennial Review Remand Order (or "TRRO") and adopted new rules, effective March 11, 2005, governing the obligations of ILECs to afford access to certain of their network elements, if at all, and the cost of such facilities. The TRRO reduced the ILECs' obligations to provide high-capacity loops within, and dedicated transport facilities between, certain ILEC wire centers that were deemed to be or become sufficiently competitive, based upon various factors such as the number of fiber-based collocators and/or the number of business access lines within a wire center. In addition, certain caps were imposed regarding the number of unbundled network element (or "UNE") facilities that the ILECs are required to make available on a single route or into a single building. Where the wire center conditions or the caps were exceeded, the TRRO eliminated the ILECs' obligations to provide these high-capacity circuits to competitors at the discounted rates historically received under the federal 1996 Telecommunications Act. If, in the future, the conditions or caps are exceeded in additional locations, ILEC UNE obligations could be further reduced.

The rates charged by ILECs for our high-capacity circuits in place on March 11, 2005 that were affected by the FCC's new rules were increased 15% effective for one year until March 2006. In addition, by March 10, 2006, we were required to transition those existing facilities to alternative arrangements, such as other competitive facilities or the higher-priced "special access services" offered by the ILECs, unless another rate had been negotiated. Subject to any contractual protections under our existing interconnection agreements with ILECs, beginning March 11, 2005, we were also potentially subject to the ILECs' higher "special access" pricing for any new installations of DS-1 loops and/or DS-1 (the capacity equivalent of a T-1) and DS-3 (the capacity equivalent of 28 T-1s) transport facilities in the affected ILEC wire centers, on the affected transport routes, or that exceeded the caps.

Beginning on March 11, 2005, we began estimating and accruing the difference between the new pricing resulting from the TRRO and the pricing being invoiced by ILECs. We continue to accrue certain amounts relating to the implementation of the TRRO due to billing rates that continue to reflect pre-TRRO pricing. As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, our accrual totaled \$1,187 and \$1,629. These estimates of remaining TRRO obligations are for all markets and, where alternate pricing or settlement agreements have not been reached, are based on special access rates available under volume and/or term pricing plans. We believe volume and/or term pricing plans are the most probable pricing regime to which we are subject based on our experience and our intent to enter into volume and/or term commitments where more attractively priced alternatives do not exist.

A portion of these accrued expenses have never been invoiced by the ILECs and are generally subject to either a two-year statutory back billing period limitation or a 12-month contractual back billing limitation. These amounts are generally reversed as telecommunication cost recoveries once they pass the applicable back billing period, or once a settlement agreement is reached with the relevant ILEC that may relieve a previously recognized liability.

Regulatory and Customer-based Taxation Contingencies

We operate in a highly regulated industry and are subject to regulation and oversight by telecommunications authorities at the federal, state and local levels. Decisions made by these agencies, including the various rulings made to date regarding interpretation and implementation of the TRRO, compliance with various federal and state rules and regulations and other administrative decisions are frequently challenged through both the

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

regulatory process and through the court system. Challenges of this nature often are not resolved for long periods of time and occasionally include retroactive impacts. At any point in time, there are a number of similar matters before the various regulatory agencies that could be either beneficial or adverse to our operations. In addition, we are always at risk of non-compliance, which can result in fines and assessments. We regularly evaluate the potential impact of matters undergoing challenges and matters involving compliance with regulations to determine whether sufficient information exists to require either disclosure and/or accrual. However, due to the nature of the regulatory environment, reasonably estimating the range of possible outcomes and the probabilities of the possible outcomes is difficult since many matters could range from a gain contingency to a loss contingency.

We are required to bill taxes, fees and other amounts (collectively referred to as "taxes") on behalf of government entities at the county, city, state and federal level ("taxing authorities"). Each taxing authority may have one or more taxes with unique rules as to which services are subject to each tax and how those services should be taxed, the application of which involves judgment and heightens the risk of non-compliance. Because we sell many of our services on a bundled basis and assess different taxes on the individual components included within the bundle, there is also a risk that a taxing authority could disagree with the taxable value of a bundled component.

Taxing authorities periodically perform audits to verify compliance and include all periods that remain open under applicable statutes, which range from three to four years. At any point in time, we are undergoing audits that could result in significant assessments of past taxes, fines and interest if we were found to be non-compliant. During the course of an audit, a taxing authority may, as a matter of policy, question our interpretation and/or application of their rules in a manner that, if we were not successful in substantiating our position, could potentially result in a significant financial impact to us. In the course of preparing our financial statements and disclosures, we consider whether information exists which would warrant specific disclosure and/or accrual in such situations. To date, we have been successful in satisfactorily demonstrating our compliance and have concluded audits with either no assessment or assessments that were not material to us. However, we cannot be assured that in every such audit in the future the merits of our position or the reasonableness of our interpretation and application of rules will prevail.

Dissolution of Captive Leasing Subsidiaries

Effective December 31, 2006, we dissolved and collapsed our captive leasing subsidiaries. These subsidiaries historically purchased assets sales tax-free and leased the assets to our operating companies as a means of preserving cash flow during our start-up phase of operations. During 2006, we determined that the nature of our operations and experience with asset duration did not justify the administrative cost and effort of maintaining these subsidiaries. In connection with the dissolution, a final accounting of all activity under the leasing subsidiaries was performed, and certain sales tax underpayments were identified and accrued. These liabilities, along with other liabilities related to the captive leasing subsidiaries that existed at the time of collapse, are included in Other Accrued Liabilities. Over time, we have adjusted the liabilities related to captive leasing subsidiaries for any statutory periods that have expired. For the year ended December 31, 2011, we removed the remainder of these liabilities since all statutory periods expired as of March 31, 2011, resulting in a benefit of \$1,204 to Other income, net, compared to a benefit of \$1,867 for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. We believe that we have adequately reserved for these liabilities and that as of December 31, 2011, there is no litigation pending that could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

As of the date of this filing, we are involved in the preliminary stage of a lawsuit with Klausner Technologies ("Klausner") that Klausner filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas. Klausner sued us and a number of other technology companies on October 27, 2011, alleging that our service violates various patents they have for a technology known as visual voicemail. The term "visual voicemail" describes the ability to select voicemail messages for retrieval in any order, and it is not clear that we utilize any services to which the patents would apply. Although the patents expire in March of next year, the suit seeks past damages. Klausner has previously sued other parties in matters that were settled prior to trial. In addition, Klausner's proposed licensing agreement does not provide us with a methodology to calculate an estimated range of potential liability because it is not yet clear what Cbeyond services, if any, would allegedly violate the asserted patents. As a result, we are currently unable to estimate any possible range of loss which may arise from the lawsuit.

16. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

	First Quarter	Second Quarter	Third Quarter	Fourth Quarter
2011				
Revenue	\$118,978	\$120,594	\$122,529	\$123,321
Gross profit (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)	79,382	80,386	82,072	82,276
Depreciation and amortization expense	16,462	17,496	16,842	19,095
Operating (loss) income	(1,533)	(1,500)	(514)	28
(Loss) income before income taxes	(423)	(1,627)	(650)	(108)
Net (loss) income	(141)	(1,676)	(1,141)	(5,026)
Net income (loss) per common share—basic	_	(0.06)	(0.04)	(0.17)
Net income (loss) per common share—diluted		(0.06)	(0.04)	(0.17)

	First Quarter	Second Quarter	Third Quarter	Fourth Quarter
2010				
Revenue	\$110,515	\$111,753	\$113,456	\$116,241
Gross profit (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)	74,126	76,450	77,163	77,719
Depreciation and amortization expense	14,282	14,331	14,506	16,185
Operating income (loss)	572	148	(771)	(2,877)
Income (loss) before income taxes	2,064	202	(751)	(2,855)
Net income (loss)	1,039	(98)	(608)	(1,987)
Net income (loss) per common share—basic	0.04	_	(0.02)	(0.07)
Net income (loss) per common share—diluted	0.03	_	(0.02)	(0.07)

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Management's Annual Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. With the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 based on the "Internal Control"—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2011. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2011 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting, which appears in Item 8 of this report.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item 10 will be contained in our definitive proxy statement issued in connection with the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2011 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethics. This Code of Ethics applies to all of our directors, officers and employees and all such individuals are required to strictly adhere to the principles as described in the Code of Ethics. The Code of Ethics is available on our Web site at www.cbeyond.ne t. The foregoing information is also available in print upon request.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 will be contained in our definitive proxy statement under the captions "The Board of Directors and Committees," "Executive Compensation," "Compensation Discussion and Analysis," and "Compensation Committee Interlocks and Participation" issued in connection with the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2011 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item 12 will be contained in our definitive proxy statement under the caption "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners" issued in connection with the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2011 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 will be contained in our definitive proxy statement under the caption "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" issued in connection with the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2011 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 will be contained in our definitive proxy statement under the caption "Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm" issued in connection with the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2011 and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) Financial Statements.

The response to this item is included in Item 8.

(2) Financial Statement Schedule.

All schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits

See the response to Item 15(b) below.

(b) Exhibits.

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or are incorporated by reference into, this report on Form 10-K:

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit No.	Description of Exhibit
2.1(a)	Asset Purchase Agreement, dated November 3, 2010, by and among the Company, Cbeyond Communications, LLC, MaximumASP, LLC, MaximumColo, LLC and Maximum Holdings, LLC, and Silas Boyle and Wade Lewis, each in his individual capacity.
3.1(b)	Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cbeyond, Inc., as amended.
3.2(c)	Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cbeyond Communications, Inc.
10.1(c)	Third Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 29, 2004, by and among Cbeyond Communications, Inc. and the other signatories thereto.
10.2(c)	2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan of Cheyond Communications, Inc.
10.3(c)	2002 Equity Incentive Plan of Cbeyond Communications, Inc.
10.4(c)	2000 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended) of Cbeyond Communications, Inc.
10.5(c)	Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement under the 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan of Cbeyond Communications, Inc.
10.6(c)	Form of Restricted Stock Award Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan of Cbeyond Communications, Inc.
10.7(c)	Form of Amended and Restated At-Will Employment Agreement.
10.8(d)	Credit Agreement, dated as of February 8, 2006, by and among Cbeyond Communications, LLC, Bank of America and the other parties thereto.
10.9(e)	First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 2, 2007, by and among Cbeyond Communications, LLC, Bank of America and the other parties thereto.
10.10(f)	Form of Indemnity Agreement by and between Cbeyond and each of the executive officers.
10.11(g)	Form of At-Will Employment Agreement by and between Cbeyond and James Geiger.
10.12(g)	Form of At-Will Employment Agreement by and between Cbeyond and J. Robert Fugate.

Exhibit No.	Description of Exhibit
10.13(g)	Form of At-Will Employment Agreement by and between Cbeyond and each of Robert Morrice, Brooks Robinson, Chris Gatch, Joseph Oesterling and Richard Batelaan.
10.14(h)	Waiver and Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 24, 2009, by and among Cbeyond Communications, LLC, Bank of America and the other parties thereto.
10.15(i)	Cbeyond Inc.'s 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan, as amended and restated on June 12, 2009.
10.16(i)	Cbeyond Inc.'s Senior Executive Bonus Plan, as adopted on June 12, 2009.
10.17(j)	Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2010, by and among Cbeyond Communications, LLC, Bank of America and the other parties thereto.
10.18(k)	Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2011, by and among Cbeyond Communications, LLC, Bank of America and other parties thereto.
10.19(1)	Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 4, 2011 by Cbeyond Communications, LLC, Bank of America and the other parties thereto.
14.1(m)	Cbeyond Inc.'s Code of Ethics
21.1	Subsidiaries of Cbeyond, Inc. (filed herewith)
23.1	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm (filed herewith).
31.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, James F. Geiger, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).
31.2	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, J. Robert Fugate, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).
32.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, James F. Geiger, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
32.2	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, J. Robert Fugate, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).

⁽a) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K dated November 3, 2010 filed on November 3, 2010 (File No. 000-51588).

- (d) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K dated February 14, 2006 filed on February 14, 2006 (File No. 000-51588).
- (e) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for second quarter 2007, filed on August 7, 2007 (File No. 000-51588).
- (f) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for third quarter 2007 filed on November 6, 2007 (File No. 000-51588).
- (g) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.11, 10.12 and 10.13 of Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 filed on February 29, 2008 (File No. 000-51588).
- (h) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 filed on March 6, 2009 (File No. 000-51588).

⁽b) Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on September 19, 2006 (File No. 333-137445), as amended by Amendment No. 1 filed on September 25, 2006.

⁽c) Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on May 16, 2005 (File No. 333-124971), as amended by Amendment No. 1 filed on June 30, 2005, by Amendment No. 2 filed on July 27, 2005, by Amendment No. 3 filed on August 24, 2005, by Amendment No. 4 filed on September 20, 2005, by Amendment No. 5 filed on October 3, 2005, by Amendment No. 6 filed on October 5, 2005, by Amendment No. 7 filed on October 7, 2005 and by Amendment No. 8 filed on October 27, 2005.

- (i) Incorporated by reference to Cbeyond Inc.'s definitive proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders filed on April 24, 2009 (File No. 000-51588).
- (j) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 filed on March 5, 2010 (File No. 000-51588).
- (k) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K dated February 22, 2011 filed on February 28, 2011 (File No. 000-51588).
- (l) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2011 filed on May 5, 2011 (File No. 000-51588).
- (m) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 filed on March 31, 2006 (File No. 000-51588).

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

James F. Geiger Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer		
By:	/s/ James F. G eiger	
C BEY	YOND, I NC.	

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

<u>Signature</u>	<u>Title</u>	Date
/ S / J AMES F. G EIGER James F. Geiger	Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer	March 7, 2012
/ S / J. R OBERT F UGATE J. Robert Fugate	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	March 7, 2012
/ S / H ENRY C. L YON Henry C. Lyon	Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer	March 7, 2012
/ S / D OUGLAS C. G RISSOM Douglas C. Grissom	Director	March 7, 2012
/ S / D. S COTT L UTTRELL D. Scott Luttrell	Director	March 7, 2012
/ S / M ARTIN M UCCI Martin Mucci	Director	March 7, 2012
/ S / K EVIN C OSTELLO Kevin Costello	Director	March 7, 2012
/ S / D AVID A. R OGAN David A. Rogan	Director	March 7, 2012
/ S / L ARRY T HOMPSON Larry Thompson	Director	March 7, 2012
/ S / B ONNIE P. W URZBACHER Bonnie P. Wurzbacher	Director	March 7, 2012

SUBSIDIARIES OF CBEYOND, INC.

Cbeyond Communications, LLC (formerly, Egility Communications, LLC) Aretta Communications, Inc. (dissolved on December 31, 2011)

<u>Jurisdiction</u>
Delaware limited liability company
Delaware corporation

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

- (1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-129556) pertaining to the 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan, 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, and 2000 Stock Incentive Plan of Cbeyond, Inc.;
 - (2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-142562) pertaining to the 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan of Cbeyond, Inc.;
 - (3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-150938) pertaining to the 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan of Cbeyond, Inc.;
 - (4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-170372) pertaining to the 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan of Cbeyond, Inc.; and
 - (5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-172737) pertaining to the 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan of Cbeyond, Inc.

of our reports dated March 7, 2012, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2011.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia March 7, 2012

CERTIFICATIONS

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, James F. Geiger, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cbeyond, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 7, 2012

/s/ James F. Geiger

Name: James F. Geiger

Title: Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATIONS

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

I, J. Robert Fugate, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cbeyond, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 7, 2012

/s/ J. Robert Fugate

Name: J. Robert Fugate

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Cbeyond, Inc. (the "Company") hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:

- (i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2011 (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- (ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 7, 2012 /s/ James F. Geiger

James F. Geiger

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Cbeyond, Inc. (the "Company") hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:

- (i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2011 (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- (ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 7, 2012 /s/ J. Robert Fugate

J. Robert Fugate

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer